Resting-state Graph Theory Metrics Predict Processing Speed and Correlate with Disease Burden in Relapsing-Remitting Multiple Sclerosis

Master's Thesis

Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science in the Graduate School of The Ohio State University

By

Anita Shankar, M.A.

Graduate Program in Psychology

The Ohio State University

2021

Thesis Committee

Dr. Ruchika Shaurya Prakash, Advisor

Dr. Zeynep Saygin

Dr. Jasmeet Hayes

Copyrighted by

Anita Shankar

Abstract

Multiple Sclerosis is a common, neurodegenerative disorder characterized by the accumulation of gray and white matter lesions within the central nervous system and presenting with progressive disability within the physical, sensory, and cognitive domains. Understanding the relationship between cognitive dysfunction, which affects an estimated 70% of people with multiple sclerosis (PwMS), and overall disease burden (commonly measured by the Expanded Disability Status Scale; EDSS) is exceedingly important for informing research interventions to preserve patient quality of life. The current study utilized resting-state fMRI to derive connectome-based predictive models (CPM) of two cognitive domains affected in PwMS (information processing speed and working memory) and determine the contribution of model-derived metrics in explaining variance associated with EDSS. We were able to successfully derive a model of processing speed (r_s =.41, p=.03), but not working memory, perhaps due to processing speed deficits emerging earlier and more prominently in PwMS. fMRI-derived processing speed metrics uniquely accounted for 13.19% of the variance in explaining EDSS. In contrast, behavioral performance on processing speed measures, working memory measures, and calculated total lesion volume did not explain a significant amount of variance in EDSS, suggesting that functional connections associated with processing speed ability may importantly contribute to patient disease burden. This work therefore supports the hypothesis that models of MS disease burden may benefit from functional inputs in addition to structural and behavioral ones, though future work is needed to establish the mechanisms of MS-related disease processes on functional connections, cognition, and disease.

Keywords: functional connectivity, multiple sclerosis, cognition

ii

Dedication

To my parents, Peanut, and Michael

Acknowledgments

This work could not have been completed without the support of The Ohio State University and the Clinical Neuroscience Lab. Foremost, I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my academic advisor, Dr. Ruchika Prakash, for her expertise, intellectual guidance, and patience. I thank her for the opportunity to work in such an exciting and challenging field. I would also like to thank Dr. Zeynep Saygin and Dr. Jasmeet Hayes for serving on my thesis committee and providing their own significant expertise in service of this project. I also extend the sincerest appreciation to the current and former members of the Clinical Neuroscience Laboratory, who have contributed to this project or to my own training and graduate experience in innumerable ways. Thank you to Dr. Alisha Janssen, Dr. Tatiana Wolfe, Dr. Brittney Schirda, Dr. Stephanie Fountain-Zaragoza, Dr. Patrick Whitmoyer, Dr. Oyetunde Gbadeyan, Heena Manglani, Shaadee Samimy, Elizabeth Herring, Mike McKenna, Megan Fisher, James Teng, Dan Evans, and Siobhan McDermott. I would also like to express my most heartfelt thanks to those who have supported me as family members and friends, for their unwavering support despite missed phone calls and unanswered texts. In particular, thank you to my parents for raising me to be inquisitive and thoughtful; and thank you to Michael and Peanut, for helping me stay that way.

Vita

2007	Highland High School
2013	B.A. Political Science, University of California, Berkeley
2016	M.A. Psychology, New York University

Publications

Henin, S., **Shankar, A.**, Borges, H., Flinker, A., Doyle, W., Friedman, D., Devinsky, O., Buzsaki, G., Liu, A. (in press). *Spatiotemporal dynamics between interictal epileptiform discharges and ripples during associative memory processing*. Brain.

Henin, S., Borges, H., **Shankar, A.**, Sarac, C., Melloni, L., Friedman, D., Flinker, A., Parra, L. C., Buzsaki, G., Devinsky, O., & Liu, A. (2019). *Closed-Loop Acoustic Stimulation Enhances Sleep Oscillations but Not Memory Performance*. ENeuro (6). 0306-19.2019.

Henin, S.⁺, **Shankar, A.**⁺, Hasulak, N., Friedman, D., Dugan, P., Melloni, L., Flinker, A., Sarac, C., Fang, M., Doyle, W., Tcheng, T., Devinsky, O., Davachi,L., Liu, A. (2019). *Hippocampal gamma predicts associative memory performance as measured by acute and chronic intracranial EEG.* Scientific Reports, 9(1).

+ indicates equal co-authorship

Fields of Study

Major Field: Psychology

Minor Field: Computer Science

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Dedication	iii
Acknowledgments	iv
Vita	v
List of Tables	viii
List of Figures	ix
Chapter 1. Introduction	1
1.1 Multiple Sclerosis: Prevalence, Etiology and Diagnostic Criteria	1
1.2 Multiple Sclerosis: Proposed Pathophysiological Mechanisms of Decline	6
1.3 Cognitive Dysfunction in People with Multiple Sclerosis	10
1.4 Attempts at a Structural Imaging-based Biomarker of Cognitive Impairment and Disease Burden	12
1.5 A Graph Theoretical Approach to Functional Neuromarkers in MS	16
1.6 Connectome-based Predictive Modeling Techniques for Network Derivation	22
1.7 Specific Aims	27
Chapter 2. Method	29
2.1 Sample Recruitment and Screening	29
2.2 Neuropsychological Assessment	30
2.3 Clinical Variables Expanded Disability Status Scale	31 31
2.4 Neuroimaging Data Acquisition	32
2.5 Neuroimaging Data Preprocessing Total Lesion Volume Preprocessing of Structural Data Preprocessing of rs-fMRI	32 33 34 34
2.6 Prediction of Processing Speed Index and Working Memory Index Connectivity Matrices Network Derivation and Model-Building Examination of Model Assumptions	35 35 37 38
2.7 Association of Functional Connectivity with Disease Course	40

Chapter 3. Results	41
3.1 Sample Demographics, Neuropsychological and Clinical Variables	41
 3.2 Neuroimaging Results Network Derivation and Model Performance Regression Model Assumptions Network Topology Predictive of Worse Processing Speed Processing Speed Model Metrics Correlate with Measures of Disease Burden Motion Correction 	43 43 43 44 45 47
Chapter 4. Discussion	49
4.1 Success and Composition of PSI and WMI CPM Networks	50
4.2 Assessing Predictors of Disease Burden	54
4.3 Limitations and Future Directions	55
4.4 Conclusions	59
References	61
Appendix A. Tables and Figures	86

List of Tables

Table 1. Demographic Variables for the Full MRI Sample	6
Table 2. Correlations for Study Variables in the Final Sample	7
Table 3. Edges Common to All Models in Derivation of low-PSI Network	8
Table 4. Predicting EDSS from Cognitive Scores, Total Lesion Volume, and low-PSI Metric	cs
	39

List of Figures

Figure 1. Connectome-based Predictive Modeling90
Figure 2. Expanded Disability Status Scale91
Figure 3. In-sample Fit of Processing Speed and Working Memory Models
Figure 4. Edges Common to All Iterations of the low-PSI Network by Macroscale Brain
Region93
Figure 5. Edges Common to All Iterations of the low-PSI Network by Canonical
Network
Figure 6. Contributions of Inter- and Intra- Network Connections Relative to Network
Size95
Figure 7. Assessing Linear Model Assumptions96

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1 Multiple Sclerosis: Prevalence, Etiology and Diagnostic Criteria

Multiple Sclerosis (MS) is the most common inflammatory disease of the central nervous system (CNS) in young and middle-aged adults, affecting an estimated 1,000,000 people in the United States alone (Reich et al., 2018; Wallin et al., 2019). Notably, estimates of disease prevalence since 2010 appeared to increase at a rate of 2.3% per year, largely believed to be the result of increased longevity in people with MS (PwMS) due to advances in pharmacological treatments (Wallin et al., 2019). However, despite these treatment advances, MS is a neurological disease that continues to be significantly disruptive to both individuals with MS and society as a whole, due to the disease's early presentation and wide range of sensory, physical and cognitive deficits. The median age-of-onset of MS is 30 years old, when individuals are set to contribute substantially to both the workforce and their families (Dendrou et al., 2015; Wallin et al., 2012). The resulting economic burden is estimated to be approximately \$10 billion dollars annually, due to a combination of healthcare costs and the eventual loss of these people to the job pool as physical and cognitive disability progresses, reducing patient independence and quality of life (Reich et al., 2018).

Similar to other complex auto-immune and neurodegenerative disorders, MS is believed to be caused by an interaction between genetic susceptibility and environmental factors, with the genetic components explaining approximately 30% of the variance in disease risk, making it a disease difficult to predict and detect (Dendrou et al., 2015). Many environmental factors have been associated with increased prevalence of MS - most compellingly, a history of exposure to the Epstein-Barr virus, history of infectious mononucleosis, history of smoking- and to a lesser degree- biomarkers associated with low vitamin D (Belbasis et al., 2015). Additionally, there exists a female to male ratio of 2.8:1 that is poorly understood, as well as a decreasing, but currently preserved, geographic gradient whereby MS prevalence decreases from north to south in the United States (Wallin et al., 2019) and worldwide (Simpson et al., 2011). Taken together, these correlations suggest a neuro-inflammatory basis of disease but give little hope of identifying a single catalyst on which to target preventative interventions.

Clinically, MS can be conceptualized as consisting of three disease stages, usually following a progressive presentation: 1) a first incidence in which lesions are present but clinical symptoms may or may not be; 2) a relapsing form of the disease in which unpredictable episodes of clinical symptoms occur, on average, once every 2 years, and are followed by varying levels of recovery; and finally, 3) a progressive form in which clinical symptoms slowly but steadily worsen without remissive periods (Ransohoff et al., 2015). Due to its slow progression, the diagnosis of MS is often delayed (Brownlee et al., 2017) and consideration of MS as a diagnosis usually occurs after a sudden, first episode of neurological symptoms, accompanied by the confirmed presence of MRI-visible white matter lesions (Thompson et al., 2018). A single presentation of clinical symptoms, even

accompanied by a single lesion on MRI, is not sufficient to meet diagnostic criteria of MS. Instead, diagnosis of MS firstly requires the elimination of other possible diagnoses, given that there is significant risk of MS pharmacological treatments exacerbating the course of other, similarly presenting diseases (Brownlee et al., 2017). Following this, diagnosis requires evidence of dissemination of lesions in space as well as in time, requiring both more than one lifetime episode as well as the presence of lesions in more than one location in the CNS (Thompson et al., 2018).

Further complicating diagnosis, some people with pathology and symptoms consistent with an MS episode do not progress to a relapsing or progressive form of disease. In these cases, the presence of a single, lifetime episode is referred to as Clinically Isolated Syndrome (CIS). Onset of CIS as well as conversion to clinically definite MS is considered idiopathic, however, several factors influence the likelihood of later conversion to MS. Of these, the number of white matter lesions on MRI at first attack is most predictive of conversion to full MS, followed by the degree of temporary neurological disability observed in initial episodes (Tintore et al., 2015). In terms of conversion prevention, receiving prompt diagnosis of CIS, and initializing treatment before a second attack is more associated with reduced risk of conversion to full MS than either lesion location or demographic factors (Tintore et al., 2015). Together, these findings suggest that early and accurate detection and understanding of MS disease pathology and associated symptoms, especially when these symptoms are mild, is a key clinical endeavor that is hindered by the disease's heterogenous presentation.

However, even with appropriate care, the majority of those initially diagnosed with CIS do experience a progression of the disease to clinically definite MS, with disease

progression most often following the prototypical relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis (RRMS) subtype (Gaetani et al., 2018). RRMS is characterized by periods of active disease, in which demyelination and neurologic dysfunction progress rapidly for a time-limited period and are then followed by a remissive state of remyelination and varying degrees symptom remission. The ability of the CNS to fully repair and recover function after multiple, compounding relapses is limited. Therefore, over time these two alternating processes of relapse and repair are associated with progressive disconnection of structural and functional information pathways in the brain and body, altering communication within and between networks that support many physiological and cognitive processes.

Between 5 and 25 years after diagnosis with RRMS, PwMS usually convert to the third stage of the disease (Inojosa et al., 2019), known as secondary progressive multiple sclerosis (SPMS). Rather than aggressive and rapid disease progression followed by full-to-partial recovery, SPMS is characterized by a slow and steady advancement of neurodegeneration and lesion spread, coupled with a linear and unrelenting loss of function. This disease stage, more so than RRMS, is associated with increased levels of disability and decline in quality of life (Huijbregts et al., 2004; Patti et al., 2007). Approximately 10-15% of people with MS present immediately with this progressive form, which is known as primary progressive multiple sclerosis (PPMS), and as such experience a rapid decline over a short time course with little hope of recovery (Ransohoff et al., 2015; Reich et al., 2018). Regardless of time course and initial presentation, over the MS disease course disability compounds and disease burden increases in several domains of functioning that varies between patients, but can include cognitive, physical, and sensory deficits.

Due to heterogeneity of symptoms and variance in disease time course, progression of MS has been quantified in a variety of ways, including: the number, severity, and frequency of relapses in the early disease stages; structural measures of neurodegeneration such as total lesion volume; and self-reported or clinician-assessed disease burden. In particular, the Extended Disability Status Scale (EDSS) is widely used clinically as a measure that quantifies disease burden of individuals in any stage of disease (Kurtzke, 1983). The EDSS is scored on a scale of 0 - 10 in half point increments, with higher scores corresponding to higher levels of disability. The scale assesses eight key 'functional systems' often affected by MS: pyramidal function (limb motility and muscle weakness); cerebellar function (balance, tremors, coordination, ataxia); brainstem function (speech, swallowing, nystagmus); sensory function (numbness, loss of sensation); bowel and bladder function; visual function; cerebral functions (memory, problem solving, attention, processing speed); and other, a dichotomous indicator of whether other symptoms are present and believed to be attributable to MS. Given the heterogenous presentation of MS across these functional systems and the lack of a reliable biomarker of disease progression, the EDSS is currently considered the gold standard for MS disease assessment and monitoring, and commonly serves as a clinical endpoint for pharmacological and behavioral interventions (Meyer-Moock et al., 2014).

Notably, total lesion volume, defined as the percentage of white matter lesions observed on a T2 FLAIR image, has also been used commonly as a marker of disease progression in this population (Sormani & Bruzzi, 2013). In contrast to EDSS, which may be thought of as representing the cumulative, experienced symptoms of MS, total lesion volume has been used as a marker of disease pathology itself.

1.2 Multiple Sclerosis: Proposed Pathophysiological Mechanisms of Decline

It is currently unknown whether events internal or external to the CNS initially trigger MS disease pathology; the auto-immune response and infiltration of lymphocytes may be the response to an unknown process or infection within the CNS which triggers neurodegeneration as well as a peripheral autoimmune response (Dendrou et al., 2015). Alternatively, the peripheral autoimmune response and infiltration of lymphocytes into the CNS may itself be the triggering event that drives focal lesions and neurodegeneration (Dendrou et al., 2015). Regardless of etiology, what has been discovered about the pathophysiology of MS has resulted in a lesion-centric approach to conceptualizations of MS and has shaped not only MS diagnostic decision-making, but many aspects of disease monitoring, treatment, and goals of pharmaceutical interventions.

The clinical stages of MS are differentiated not only by their presentation of symptoms, but by the progression and characteristics of their lesions and the activity of the body's autoimmune response. Kuhlmann et al. proposed a lesion classification system that differentiates between active, mixed active/inactive, and inactive lesions in order to better distinguish between disease stages (Kuhlmann et al., 2017). By their definition, active lesions contain macrophages in the majority or entirety of the lesion, mixed lesions are characterized by macrophages only in the border of the lesion and cell loss in the center of the lesion and inactive lesions lack macrophages nearly completely (Kuhlmann et al., 2017).

Systematic dissection of 182 MS brains from the Netherlands Brain Bank led to the investigation of 7562 MS lesions and demonstrated that there is significant inflammatory

lesion activity in progressive MS: 78% had at least one mixed active lesion present, and 57% of all lesions were either active or mixed (Luchetti et al., 2018). Furthermore, there was a correlation between disease burden and higher proportion of active/mixed to inactive lesions as well as total lesion load (Luchetti et al., 2018). People with progressive MS compared to RRMS had a higher lesion load and a lower incidence of remyelinated lesions. Of these, men had a higher proportion of active/mixed to inactive/mixed to inactive lesions all disease stages (Luchetti et al., 2018).

In addition to the heterogeneity found in lesion presentation and characteristics across disease stages, lesions are also disseminated unpredictably in space. Areas of cortical demyelination may be guided by regions with low flow of CSF, such as the brain's sulci, while other studies have found that focal white matter (WM) lesions occurred more commonly in areas with high venous density, as well as the watershed regions of the brain characterized by low arterial blood flow (Haider et al., 2016). This proclivity may explain some of the shared presentation of symptoms across individuals, however, in general there is great variability regarding the location and progression of symptoms, resulting in an unpredictable disease course that is difficult to diagnose, predict, and treat.

Additional data from autopsy studies and the examination of active lesions has resulted in two conclusions. First, data strongly suggests that that tissue injury is likely mediated by lymphocytes, and second, inflammation continues to drive the process of demyelination in all disease phases (Lassmann, 2018). However, these disease processes do differ between disease stages; RRMS is thought to be particularly characterized by the influx of immune cells into the CNS from the peripheral immune system, resulting in neuroinflammation as well as the formation of new lesion damage which may or may not be

repaired (Baecher-Allan et al., 2018). Contrastingly, in the progressive stage of the disease this influx is reduced and instead there are pathological processes within the CNS that primarily continue to drive inflammation (Baecher-Allan et al., 2018). Therefore, progressive MS is characterized by a marked reduction or absence of the formation of new focal white matter lesions and inflammatory blood brain barrier penetration, and instead the slow growth of pre-existing lesions (Lassmann & Bradl, 2017). Unique to this stage, mixed lesions form that slowly expand in size, and in the absence of the attempts at cellular repair found in early disease, become areas of complete cell death (Frischer et al., 2015). Notably, these "smoldering" plaques are more common in men than women for unknowns reasons, and men also have a smaller proportion of inactive plaques in older age, though an equal proportion of successfully-remyelinating lesions (Frischer et al., 2015).

This complex but striking disease course of inflammatory white matter lesions has become hallmark of MS, despite evidence that in addition to lesion pathology, the disease is characterized by other, significant but subtle changes that have gone largely unaddressed in clinical disease monitoring and treatment (Sormani et al., 2009). Despite this, treatment of MS has made significant advances in the past 25 years even by focusing primarily on limiting the accumulation of white matter lesions. Currently, there are approximately one dozen FDA-approved therapeutic drugs that target immune response and the inflammatory component of the disease in its relapsing-remitting stage. These pharmacological treatments are likely responsible for the observed delayed time to disability and lower relapse rate in current MS cohorts compared to previous ones (Baecher-Allan et al., 2018). However, these treatments work by reducing the burden of the inflammatory lesions typical of RRMS and have little effect on the secondary mechanisms that seem to drive the progressive stage of

disease (Ontaneda et al., 2017). Thus, even with accurate and early detection and treatment that may slow the accumulation of new lesions, MS still progresses through a set of secondary mechanisms as well as slowly expanding plaques from unprevented attacks. In addition, despite the success of pharmacological methods at delaying disease-related physical (Claflin et al., 2019) and cognitive (Landmeyer et al., 2020) changes in RRMS, these treatments extend the already dominating amount of time PwMS spend in the relapsingremitting stage of disease (Ransohoff et al., 2015; Reich et al., 2018) and do not fully prevent the presentation of these symptoms nor the accumulation of disability in these domains. Due to these two gaps in treatment efficacy, a need still exists for a biomarker of disease progression, as well as methodological investigation into the ways in which disease pathology results in the accumulation of symptoms and relationship of those symptoms to overall disease burden.

Given that lesion accumulation and volume are considered the primary pathological features in MS, MRI-based biomarkers that utilize structural images have been the subject of much interest, with the hope that they would allow for monitoring of disease progression and further understanding of the mechanisms of symptom progression. However, given the complexity of disease pathology in MS - which may include focal demyelination, neuro-inflammation, widespread neurodegeneration, as well as the body's attempt to re-myelinate and compensate for these insults - there is also interest in functional MRI-based biomarkers which may be able to reflect the sum impact of these interacting processes. This is especially true as researchers move beyond the historical focus on MS-related physical decline and attempt to understand the relationship between MS-related disease processes and the decline of complex cognitive functions, such as working memory and information processing.

1.3 Cognitive Dysfunction in People with Multiple Sclerosis

Along with gray and white matter lesions, dysfunction of normal-appearing brain tissue, neurodegeneration, and inflammation, people with RRMS present most notably with decline in the sensory/motor, cognitive, and mood domains (Prakash et al., 2008). Although cognitive deficits have been associated with the progression of MS since Charcot first described the disease in 1877, motor deficits and physical disability have historically served as the primary measure of disease progression (Charcot, 1877; Sumowski et al., 2018a), until Rao and colleagues brought renewed interested to the prevalence of cognitive dysfunction (Stephen M. Rao, Leo, Bernardin, et al., 1991; Stephen M. Rao, Leo, Ellington, et al., 1991). Current estimates indicate cognitive impairment affects up to 70% of PwMS, with approximately 40-50% experiencing mild to moderate deficits, and 10-20% experiencing severe deficits (Hämäläinen, 2016). As such, cognition has received increased attention due to the predictive nature of the relationship between cognitive dysfunction and current quality of life (Benedict et al., 2005), as well as future disease progression (Moccia et al., 2016; Zipoli et al., 2010) and relationship to disease subtype (Sumowski et al., 2018). In particular, MS-research suggests that processing speed and working memory may be two domains that are particularly important for their contribution to more complex cognition-dependent behaviors (Berrigan et al., 2013), playing a foundational or supportive role in many behaviors and activities that are essential for preserved quality of life. For example, Rao and colleagues suggested that processing speed and working memory are important for the maintenance of social relationships, self-sufficiency, and mental well-being (Stephen M. Rao, Leo, Ellington, et al., 1991), and other have shown their importance for retaining employment, and therefore financial independence (Macaron et al., 2020).

Information processing speed, measured as reaction time in simple matching or identification tasks and often conceptualized as the speed with which information is able to be processed by the brain, is perhaps the most notable cognitive domain affected in PwMS (Brochet & Ruet, 2019; Costa et al., 2017). Rao and colleagues first described slowed processing speed in PwMS in 1989, demonstrating that compared to healthy controls, PwMS had slower reaction times on tasks such as the Sternberg Paradigm, in which participants are presented with and asked to memorize a set of digits and respond yes/no to whether each number in a series of digits presented on a screen is member of that initial set (S. M. Rao et al., 1989). Since then, the study of information processing speed in MS has grown considerably, and importantly, researchers have increasingly utilized tasks that attempt to isolate processing speed from related cognitive domains, such as working memory and episodic memory. These tasks, such as the Symbol Digit Modalities Test, and the Symbol Search and Coding tasks as found in the Weschler Processing Speed Index, require participants to match symbols and provide an oral or written response (Costa et al., 2017; Wechsler, 1981).

Working memory deficits, while less commonly observed than processing speed deficits, are also widely reported in MS (DeLuca et al., 2004). Working memory, defined as the system used for temporary storage and manipulation of information subserving more complex cognitive tasks (Baddeley & Hitch, 1974; Baddeley, 2000), and the tasks most commonly used to measure it, can be decomposed into the following core components: the maintenance process of sensory information; the process of actively manipulating that

information; and the speed with which these processes can be performed. The most valid measures of working memory, such as the N-back task, the Paced Auditory Serial Addition Task (PASAT), and the Weschler Working Memory Index (WMI) address all three processes in some way. As a component of the Weschler Adult Intelligence Scale, the WMI is a neuropsychological test of digit span and item manipulation within a time limit (Wechsler, 1981). During the N-back, participants must maintain and continuously update their memory for constantly changing visual stimuli while making a match/no match judgment under time pressure – though it is important to note that the N-back relies on recognition memory and not recall (Kirchner, 1958). The PASAT, and its visual counterpart, the PVSAT, consists of the presentation of a series of single digit numbers and requires addition of each new number to the previous, requiring maintenance, manipulation and quick information processing (Gronwall, 1977; Fos et al., 2000). While the N-back has most commonly been used with healthy populations (Van Essen et al., 2012), the PASAT/PVSAT has been demonstrated to be particularly sensitive to disease-related changes to working memory function in patients with multiple sclerosis (D'Esposito et al., 1996; DeLuca et al., 2004; Chiaravalloti & DeLuca, 2008; Genova et al., 2009).

1.4 Attempts at a Structural Imaging-based Biomarker of Cognitive Impairment and Disease Burden

Due to the important role that processing speed and working memory play in quality of life for PwMS, and due to the integral role MRI already plays in the diagnosis and monitoring of MS, neuroimaging work in PwMS has consistently sought an imaging-based biomarker with which to detect, monitor and predict cognitive symptoms of the disease, and to understand the relationship between cognitive symptoms and disease progression.

Several studies have linked features of structural MRI – white matter lesion volume, volumetric measures of atrophy and degeneration, and microstructural damage – to risk of future cognitive decline (Calabrese et al., 2012; Deloire, 2012; Filippi, Preziosa, et al., 2013). Much of the focus on associating MRI-detectable markers with disease progression have focused on T2-weighted hyperintense lesions, likely due to diagnostic criteria of clinically definite MS that requires this imaging sequence to evaluate the presence of these lesions disseminated in space and time (Louapre, 2018). Supporting this line of thought, white matter lesions appear to be an important predictor of conversion from CIS to clinically definite MS. For instance, in a large cohort study including 1058 CIS patients followed on average for 17 years, the presence of greater than 10 lesions at baseline MRI had a hazard ratio of 11.3 compared to 5.1 for those with fewer than 10 lesions (Tintore et al., 2015). In addition, the development of multiple white matter lesions within the first year of CIS increased the risk of not only developing RRMS, but also of developing SPMS (Brownlee et al., 2017). In RRMS, two meta-analyses of 23 and 31 randomized, double-blind, controlled clinical trials indicated that a relapsing episode in the following 12-24-month period from diagnosis is most strongly predicted by increasing lesion count and lesion volume accumulation over a six-month period (N. De Stefano et al., 2010; Sormani et al., 2009; Sormani & Bruzzi, 2013).

Many large studies have also sought to investigate the relationship between white matter lesions, disability, and cognitive impairment. Notably, in a five-year longitudinal study of 312 PwMS, white matter lesion volume at initial measurement predicted change in

overall disease burden as measured by the Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS), and also predicted cognitive status at the 5-year follow-up (Calabrese et al., 2012). In 721 PwMS, T2 lesion volume was a significant predictor of processing speed, and processing speed was in turn a significant predictor of employment status, independent of age and physical disability (Macaron et al., 2020). In another study of 997 PwMS, T2-measured lesion volume was strongly and negatively correlated with processing speed (Spearman's rank correlation of -.44) and outperformed all other evaluated MRI metrics, including whole brain fraction, thalamic volume, and cervical spinal cord cross sectional area volume (Nicola De Stefano et al., 2015). Similar results correlating T2 lesion volume with EDSS and processing speed have also been found in smaller samples of 20-40 PwMS (Mike et al., 2011; Randolph et al., 2005; Stankiewicz et al., 2011).

Attempts to correlate lesion volume with measures of working memory specifically have not been as promising, and some studies that have investigated both processing speed and working memory have corroborated the first relationship and either failed to find the second completely (Fulton et al., 1999) or, while indicative of a possible relationship, failed to reach statistical significance (Papadopoulou et al., 2013). However, other larger studies of 597 PwMS have found that lesion volume predicted impaired processing speed and working memory at a nine-year follow-up (Patti et al., 2015), perhaps because working memory deficits emerge later in the disease course (Brochet & Ruet, 2019), or perhaps because the weaker relationship requires larger sample sizes.

Despite this, lesion volume does not fully account for either disease progression or cognitive impairment. There are also several studies that have shown no meaningful relationship between lesion volume and either disability or cognitive decline (Filippi, Agosta,

et al., 2013; Healy et al., 2017) termed the 'clinicoradiological paradox' (Louapre, 2018). As such, more recent methods have focused both on more advanced structural methods requiring specialized MRI sequences that highlight cortical lesions, as well as utilizing high-resolution imaging of 7T scanners that can identify pathological tissue that appears normal on low resolution images, so-called "normal-appearing" gray and white matter. However, the potential improved clinical utility of these methods is limited by their availability and ease of acquisition. More importantly, even with these specialized sequences and increased resolution, these methods are still currently not sensitive enough for detection of cortical lesions in normal-appearing matter to be consistently reliable (Louapre, 2018). Recent investigations combining T1w and T2w MRI with diffusion tensor imaging have revealed that structural parameters are numerous and may be differentially important for prediction of cognition and disability dependent on the specific domain of interest (Tóth et al., 2019) and may differ by disease subtype (Eijlers et al., 2018), making the goal of realizing a structural MRI biomarker not an impossible task, but an arduous one - and one that is potentially costand time-prohibitive in a clinical setting.

Additionally, while structural measures of disease burden may reflect important information regarding disease progression and even remyelination, they may not fully account for individual variation in functional reserve. By contrast, functional neuroimaging could ideally provide a proxy measure of the functioning of the brain, reflecting both disease progression and the brain's ability to 'rewire' in a compensatory way. There is evidence to suggest that functional connectivity is supported by underlying structural connections (Greicius, 2008; Hermundstad et al., 2013; Honey et al., 2009), and therefore structural damage may also be reflected in changes to brain function. The use of connectivity fMRI

may provide additional insight into disease-related cognitive risk over and above traditional methods quantifying lesion load and neurodegeneration, or even increases and decreases in localized activity, and instead may be able to reflect the sum impact of these multifactorial structural insults. In addition, functional MRI may allow for the prediction of cognitive domains that are not easily correlated with structural measures of disease burden, such as working memory. Given that cognitive dysfunction in MS is likely multifactorial (white matter lesions, but also widespread neurodegeneration, neuroinflammation, and damage to white and gray matter than appears normal on standard MRI), the study of functional brain imaging to assess the effective impact of this wide array of disease-related pathology has become of increased interest. In particular, recent work has attempted to use graph theory to model the relationship between disease progression and the functional organization of the brain.

1.5 A Graph Theoretical Approach to Functional Neuromarkers in MS

Functional connectivity can be defined as the co-activation of neuronal signals between two distinct brain regions. Typically, functional connectivity networks are defined as either spontaneous or task evoked. Whereas task-evoked networks were first described in terms of coordinated signal changes in response to a specific activity or stimulus (Kwong, 2012; Ogawa et al., 1998), spontaneous functional connectivity in the absence of a specific stimulus was first described by Biswal et. al in participants who were asked to rest and think of nothing in particular (1995). Rather than finding a lack of connectivity in the absence of a directed behavior, Biswal and colleagues observed strong functional connections between an a-priori "seed" region in the motor cortex and other regions of the brain (Biswal et al., 1995). Initial reaction to the observation of this and other resting-state networks that followed was to suggest that this co-activation was the result of high frequency cardiac and respiratory noise aliasing back into the range of the bold response (van den Heuvel & Hulshoff Pol, 2010). However, in the two and a half decades since, the presence of multiple "resting state" networks have been widely replicated even when controlling for the influence of artifacts (Buckner et al., 2008; Fox & Raichle, 2007; van den Heuvel & Hulshoff Pol, 2010). Evidence that these resting-state functional connectivity patterns are reflective of neuronal signal is threefold: first, these signals are observed between regions with overlapping function and neuroanatomy; second, the frequency component of these resting-state signals appear to be dominated by low, not high, frequencies; and third, studies have shown associations between resting-state connectivity signals and direct electrophysiological neuronal recordings (van den Heuvel & Hulshoff Pol, 2010).

To this day, the fact that rs-fMRI does not evoke cognition-relevant signal in the same way that task-fMRI, in which participants engage in a behavior of interest during fMRI acquisition, does appear to suggest weaker brain-behavior correlations (Greene et al., 2018). However, several advantages to the use of resting-state fMRI, especially in clinical applications, exist (Fox & Greicius, 2010). Resting-state fMRI allows for the measurement of more than one network simultaneously - and these networks are reliably observed - most notably, the default mode network, the somatosensory network, the frontoparietal control network, an auditory network, a language network, and the dorsal and ventral attention networks (Lee et al., 2013). Additionally, evidence suggests that these resting-state networks

are inherently tied to the structural organization and connections of the brain (Greicius, 2008; Hermundstad et al., 2013; Honey et al., 2009). That resting-state networks have been associated with the surrounding structure of the brain's white matter is of key importance for the study of neurodegenerative diseases with white matter lesion pathology.

In addition, the ease with which resting-state fMRI can be collected has resulted in wider implementation in clinical research applications than task-fMRI (Smitha et al., 2017), with some large open access protocols collecting only resting-state fMRI. Even in endeavors that do collect task-fMRI, the expensive and time-consuming nature of MRI work necessitates limiting the collection of task-fMRI to a few, carefully chosen cognitive domains and measurements. There is, as of yet, no consensus on which cognitive task best measures each cognitive domain within the research community, nor which cognitive domains are most crucial to collect, given that this varies greatly depending on the question of interest. Resting-state fMRI, however, has applicability to a wide range of questions pertaining to multiple cognitive domains of interest, and is ubiquitously collected, allowing for investigations with larger, more varied datasets and populations.

In calculating functional connectivity at rest, several options exist to detect these networks. Most commonly: a "seed based approach" in which a region of interest, either informed by prior literature or the results of a localization task, is chosen and used to identify a network by isolating other regions that are functionally connected to that seed; an Independent Components Analysis (ICA) technique, which decomposes the time series data into groups of regions with similar signals across time (Fox et al., 2005); and graph theory methods (Rubinov & Sporns, 2010): a typically whole-brain approach which conceptualizes the brain as a network.

In this last case, the study of functional networks at rest offers the opportunity to study the inherent architecture of the brain using a mathematical approach in which the brain is conceptualized as a graph. The advantage of this approach, as compared with others, is that it allows for a more comprehensive characterization of the whole brain as a system of interconnected networks (Bassett & Sporns, 2017). In a graph theoretical framework, regions of the brain, typically voxels or larger regions of interest as defined by an atlas, are treated as vertices, or nodes, and the functional or structural connections between them are represented by either a binary or a weighted value, known as an edge. Using this method, all of the connections of the brain are represented by a functional connectivity matrix of these edge values, where each cell of the matrix represents the relationship between two nodes in the brain (Fornito et al., 2016). The values of these edges are themselves flexible, allowing for varying amounts of information. In the case of a binary matrix, values of 1 represent connected nodes, whereas values of 0 suggest nodes not connected functionally. In the case of a functional graph, this could reflect whether a functional connection meets a predefined threshold of significance; in the case of a weighted matrix, the values of the cell can represent the strength of that connection between nodes. Conceptualizing the connectivity of the brain in this way allows for the calculation of several metrics that further our understanding about how the brain is organized overall, but also how the sub-networks within it are organized. Commonly, these metrics have been used to examine both features shared by groups, but also to identify differences between individuals and groups as a function of individual differences, age, and disease.

Network measures, such as measures of network centrality, segregation, and integration, can characterize the functional organization of the brain and be used to both

reveal disease-related abnormal brain organization and be linked to disease status and cognition. Network centrality identifies the key nodes in a network based on some criteria of interest, and measures of segregation and integration are complementary metrics of the communication between nodes and groups of nodes, often referred to as modules (Sporns, 2018).

Graph theory studies in MS have to date been limited, but have described a pattern of local reorganization and long-range disconnection, and a resulting decrease in global efficiency of information transfer (Fleischer et al., 2019). Investigations into resting-state network changes have revealed decreases in local and global efficiency in people with relapsing-remitting MS (Rocca et al., 2016; Shu et al., 2016), with one study demonstrating that overall connectivity strength could be used to differentiate PwMS from people with CIS with an accuracy of 77% (Liu et al., 2017). Others have found increased network centrality in the DMN in cognitively impaired PwMS compared to both healthy controls and cognitively preserved PwMS (Eijlers et al., 2017). Particularly relevant to the current study, Gamboa et al. (2017) investigated working memory performance in people in the early stages of MS or CIS with low to no disability and found increased modularity compared to healthy controls, which correlated negatively with working memory; modularity was also used to classify PwMS from CIS with 75% accuracy. Impairment on a working memory task has also been associated with increased brain segregation, and processing speed associated with small worldedness and global efficiency (Welton et al., 2020). PwMS with cognitive impairment have also demonstrated a significant correlation between lower path length and better processing speed (Hawkins et al., 2020). In another study, a support vector machine built using graph theory metrics successfully capitalized on local efficiency and node strength

metrics to differentiate PwMS from healthy controls, and to differentiate those who were cognitively impaired from those who were cognitively preserved (Solana et al., 2019).

Together, these studies have resulted in a proposed model of cognitive dysfunction whereby the impact of disease-related structural changes to network efficiency are moderated by resilience or compensation of the network as measured by its retained modularity (Fleischer et al., 2019; Schoonheim et al., 2013, 2015). According to this model, at some point during disease progression with accumulating increased tissue damage, network resilience eventually reaches a breaking point, resulting in a collapse of information transfer efficiency and catalyzing steep increases in cognitive, and other, deficits (Fleischer et al., 2019; Schoonheim et al., 2015).

Thus, the association of graph theory metrics with clinical and cognitive variables has done much to advance our understanding of how metrics of brain organization correlate with both MS disease and cognitive changes. It has also led to theoretical models of diseasecatalyzed network collapse and cognitive decline and has shown to have some utility in the classification of disease subtypes. However, the field still lacks research into the development of whole-brain functional neuromarkers that are specific to particular cognitive domains, rather than descriptive of general brain organization. The development of individual markers of processing speed and working memory, for example, would allow for investigations into how functional processes that support these domains are affected in MS, and how those functional processes relate to disability.

1.6 Connectome-based Predictive Modeling Techniques for Network Derivation

Machine learning, broadly defined, is a subset of artificial intelligence techniques that can be used in conjunction with large or highly dimensional datasets to identify and characterize signal within that data (unsupervised learning), or to make individual-level classifications or predictions by mapping data onto a target variable (supervised learning). Whereas the former category has long been used by fMRI researchers interested in defining the spatial or hierarchical organization of the brain (Khosla et al., 2019), the latter is of special interest to clinical researchers who may wish to make brain-behavior associations and predict clinically relevant variables in patient populations (Bzdok & Meyer-Lindenberg, 2018).

Despite variation in the purpose and implementation of these techniques and their increasing application in clinical research, supervised machine learning in the neuroimaging domain has been limited by the vast array of methods and a lack of understanding regarding their implementation. In general, these techniques require that a researcher make a series of choices, each with critical consequences. Typically, these steps and the associated choices are: 1) evaluation method, 2) feature selection and optimization, 3) algorithm implementation, and 4) performance metric.

Connectome-based predictive modeling (CPM; Xilin Shen et al., 2017) is one recent methodological framework that allows for the creation of a whole-brain, data-driven functional network of behaviorally-relevant and domain-specific edges, and generates a model of the relationship between graph theory metrics in these edges and the domain of interest, which is then tested on novel individuals. It is an implementation of a supervised

machine learning procedure that: 1) utilizing cross-validation, 2) selects edges that are significantly correlated with behavior across members of the training set, 3) takes the average connectivity strength from thresholded edges to predict behavior using linear regression, and 4) evaluates the model by correlating predicted and observed behavioral scores.

Although the generalizability of these models is generally unknown without repeated validation on separate, external datasets, the 'internal validation' procedure provides a first step toward the potential development of a biomarker of behavior and allows researchers to explore within-sample associations of domain-specific connectivity and clinical or behavioral variables. Thus, the network of significant edges resulting from the CPM method may have potential use in the monitoring and prediction of clinical outcomes.

In comparison to other techniques, the use of machine learning techniques introduces several advantages, such as the generation of more generalizable and reliable models (Scheinost et al., 2019; Sripada et al., 2019) and a less stringent approach to correcting for multiple comparisons during feature selection through the use of cross validation (Shen et al., 2017). Whereas univariate functional connectivity methods that examine the reliability of individual edges across multiple sessions has poor reliability, multivariate methods that examine the reliability of all edges simultaneously result in significant improvements to reliability (Noble et al., 2017, 2019). The test-retest reliability of resting state fMRi has direct relevance to the prediction of cognitive measures because reliability sets an upper limit on validity (Noble et al., 2017). Thus, an unreliable measure cannot be used for reliable prediction because too much of the signal varies from measurement to measurement.

CPM in particular has been shown to produce reliable and generalizable models across constructs, first demonstrated through the derivation of networks and models

predictive of fluid intelligence (Finn et al., 2015) and sustained attention (Rosenberg et al., 2015). The model built to predict sustained attention has been shown to generalize to an ADHD population (Rosenberg et al., 2015), as well as a separate sample of younger and older adults (Fountain-Zaragoza et al., 2019). Researchers have also successfully derived models of working memory in younger adults that generalized to older adults with and without Alzheimer's disease (Avery et al., 2019) and people with multiple sclerosis (Manglani et al., in prep). Additionally, the CPM technique has been used successfully in a broad array of disciplines to derive functional connectivity models of temperament (Jiang et al., 2018), stress (Goldfarb et al., 2020), processing speed in older adults (M. Gao et al., 2020), cognition in a sample of older adults with mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease (Lin et al., 2018), and cognitive decline in breast cancer patients (Henneghan et al., 2020), in a list that is quickly growing.

An additional advantage of CPM over many supervised and unsupervised learning techniques is the preservation of select features, in this case edges, that are important for prediction, and dichotomizing edges into those that are positively and negatively related to the target variable. This allows researchers to avoid worrisome 'black box' prediction, where the mapping of inputs to outputs is unintelligible and potentially driven by confounds. CPM additionally provides a binary or weighted mask of relevant edges that can be checked against previous knowledge but also treated as a data-driven whole-brain approach to explore the contribution of all edges, potentially revealing new information about the relationship between functional connectivity and behavior.

For example, CPM has revealed that connectivity of frontoparietal, medial frontal, DMN and motor nodes may mediate age-related differences in sustained attention (Fountain-

Zaragoza et al., 2019), that predicting processing speed in older adults may rely on withinnetwork connectivity of the motor and visual networks (M. Gao et al., 2020), and that contributions of hippocampal and PFC connectivity may be larger than those of the basal ganglia, amygdala and cingulate gyrus for predicting temperament (Jiang et al., 2018). CPM itself can also be used in a hypothesis-driven way through the use of a specific atlas or the restriction of looking at a particular region that has historically been linked to the target variable, such as investigating the relationship between hippocampal connectivity and stress (Goldfarb et al., 2020).

Thus, CPM's transparency, interpretability, and ease of implementation make it an appealing technique when compared to methods that maximize predictive accuracy, often beyond what CPM is capable of (Dadi et al., 2019), but which inform the researcher little about how prediction is being achieved. As the neuroimaging community continues to strive toward translational applications of machine learning to clinical populations, potentially informing treatments and standard of care, interpretability is an important ethical consideration. Black box machine learning methods that maximize prediction without researcher oversight open themselves to the possibility of relying on information that is spuriously related to target variables, potentially introducing bias into the medical decision-making process.

One key advantage to the application of CPM to an MS population is the potential development of a domain-specific, fMRI-based predictor of disease progression and cognitive decline. Structural methods such as volumetric and lesion-based approaches lend themselves well to interpretable data-reduction to single metrics that can be used to track and predict disease progression and cognitive decline. Aforementioned studies indicate that

increases in lesion load volume and atrophy is predictive of future disease progression and cognitive status. Likewise, graph theory approaches to functional connectivity allow us to characterize the organization of the human brain and relate decreases in a modular structure to disease progression and cognitive status. However, a gap remains in identifying biomarkers specific to cognitive domains of interest, such as processing speed and working memory in PwMS. CPM allows researchers to identify networks to serve as clinical markers specific to these cognitive domains, and potentially aid in the prediction of behavioral change.

For this reason, the current study aimed to investigate whether CPM could be used to develop domain-specific functional connectivity neuromarkers of working memory and processing speed as measured by the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale, in which these domains are separable and non-overlapping. Currently, associations of disease and behavior in research with PwMS tend to rely on tasks that tax multiple cognitive domains simultaneously, such as the Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test, Symbol-Digit Modalities Test, and the N-back task. The prediction of multiple cognitive domains simultaneously could potentially increase predictive power, but they do not allow for the examination of differential onset of cognitive dysfunction in PwMS. Additionally, use of the WAIS-IV is common among healthy controls, allowing for contextualization of cognitive decline in PwMS within the larger population.
1.7 Specific Aims

The *long-term goal* of this work is to develop fMRI-based neuromarkers of cognitive functioning in people with MS that can be employed to understand progression of disease course as well as serve as surrogate endpoints in clinical trials targeting cognitive improvements. To achieve that goal, *the overall objective* of the current study was to build a whole-brain model of functional connectivity that is predictive of working memory functioning and processing speed in people with MS. Our main hypothesis is that these two resting-state models, derived to predict cognitive functioning in two key domains impacted in those with MS, will additionally predict disease status in this population. Using an existing dataset in our laboratory, we will build the WM-fc and PS-fc models to predict working memory and processing speed, respectively. The *rationale* for the proposed study is to employ functional MRI to develop neuromarkers that are non-invasive, accurate, and accessible to detect and monitor cognitive status and disease burden in those with MS. To accomplish our objective, the main hypothesis will be tested in accordance with the following two specific aims:

Derive whole-brain based markers of functional connectivity using
performance on validated measures of cognitive functioning (WM-fc and PSfc). Employing connectome-based predictive modeling that captures the co-activity
of the entire brain during resting-state fMRI to build predictive models, we aimed
to first derive whole-brain models of functional connectivity in order to determine
in-sample fit for working memory abilities and processing speed in our sample of

individuals with MS. Our hypothesis was that the use of the multivariate predictive modeling approach, codifying interactions across the entire brain, would significantly predict working memory and processing speed in people with MS.

2. Determine the validity of the WM-fc and PS-fc models in explaining variance in measures of disease status. In order to assess the potential clinical utility of functional neuromarkers of cognition for predicting disease status compared to structural and cognitive measures, we aimed to build a multiple linear regression model with CPM-derived metrics from functional connectivity, lesion load, and cognitive performance on WMI and PSI to predict EDSS. Given the established associations between cognitive functioning and metrics of disease status, we hypothesized that our connectome models of working memory and processing speed functioning would be associated with total lesion volume and EDSS scores, but that metrics from the functional MRI markers of cognition would account for unique variance in EDSS compared to total lesion volume and cognitive performance scores.

Chapter 2. Method

The current analyses were completed using a dataset intended to test the association between physical activity and working memory performance in people with multiple sclerosis. The current analyses utilized resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging (rs-fMRI) data, processing speed and working memory subtests of the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale (WAIS-IV; Wechsler, 1981), calculations of whole-brain lesion volume, and the Expanded Disability Status Scale (Kurtzke, 1983).

2.1 Sample Recruitment and Screening

Participants in this dataset were recruited from the Columbus, Ohio area through a combination of outreach through The National Multiple Sclerosis Society website, the established Clinical Neuroscience Lab database of people with MS, as well as flyers distributed throughout the community and in nearby medical and MS treatment centers. Inclusionary criteria required that eligible participants be 30-59 years of age, score greater than a 23 on the Mini-mental Status Exam (Folstein et al., 1975), have a corrected vision of at least 20/40, score less than or equal to 19 on the Beck Depression Inventory II (Beck, A. T., Steer, R. A., & Brown, 1996), be right-handed, have an Expanded Disability Status Scale score of between 0 and 5.5, be free of comorbid neurological or psychiatric disorders, be

relapse and corticosteroid use free for 30 days prior to enrollment, have a clinically definite diagnosis of relapsing-remitting MS, and have no contraindication to the MR environment. Eligible participants who consented to study participation completed neuropsychological assessment and a neuroimaging session. Additionally, they completed a 7-day physical activity monitoring in service of the parent study's original aims, which is of no direct relevance to the current thesis. This study was approved by the Ohio State University Institutional Review Board.

2.2 Neuropsychological Assessment

In the week prior to the neuroimaging visit, participants completed the Working Memory (WMI) and Processing Speed (PSI) indices from the WAIS-IV.

Processing Speed Index: The Processing Speed Index from WAIS-IV is composed of two subtests that measure an individual's ability to complete time-dependent graphomotor tasks by visually inspecting and categorizing symbols. In the symbol search subtest, individuals scan rows of symbols attempting to identify and mark those that match a set of target symbols. In the Coding subtest, individuals use a symbol-digit key to transcribe as many symbols with their corresponding digit as they can within a time limit. The dependent variable was the age-corrected Processing Speed Index score.

Working Memory Index: The Working Memory Index from WAIS-IV is likewise composed of two subtests that measure the ability to hold and manipulate numbers, testing, among other things, attention, encoding, and mental manipulation abilities. In the Digit Span

subtest, participants are asked to listen to an increasingly large set of numbers and repeat them, either in reverse or chronological order. In the Arithmetic subtest, individuals are orally administered mathematical word problems, requiring that they both attend to and retain the information in the problem and manipulate the information in their head. The dependent variable was the age-corrected Working Memory Index score.

2.3 Clinical Variables

Expanded Disability Status Scale

The EDSS is an MS-specific, self-report questionnaire intended to quantify the total disease burden of the disease and provide a method to measure disease progression over time (Kurtzke, 1983). The scale ranges from 0 to 10 in half point increments, with higher numbers representing higher levels of disease burden (Figure 2). Scores from 1 to 5.5 represent individuals who have retained the ability to walk without aid, and additionally assesses for dysfunction across eight systems: muscle weakness and/or impaired limb function; balance and coordination issues, tremors, ataxia; speech and swallowing function and nystagmus; numbness or sensory issues; bladder or bowel dysfunction; visual dysfunction; memory and cognitive dysfunction, and any other deficit observed. EDSS scores above 5.5 apply to individuals with impaired walking ability, and primarily scores the severity of this impairment.

2.4 Neuroimaging Data Acquisition

Each participant underwent a 75-minute scan, collecting both structural and functional MRI data on a Siemens 3 Tesla Trio scanner with a 32-channel head coil. For the structural scans, a high-resolution 1-mm voxel T1-weighted image (TR = 1950ms, TE =4.44ms, flip angle = 12° , field of view = $256 \times 232 \times 176$ mm³, slice thickness = 1.00mm³, voxel size standard = 1.0-mm³, 176 sagittal slices acquired interleaved), and a T2-weighted Fluid Attenuated Inversion Recovery (FLAIR) image (TR = 14000ms, TE = 7.3ms, flip angle $= 120^{\circ}$, field of view $= 350 \times 263 \times 350 \text{ mm}^3$, slice thickness = 2.00 mm, voxel size standard =0.8 x 0.8 x 2.0-mm³, 60 slices acquired interleaved). In addition to several task sequences outside the scope of the present study, a 15-minute, 450 volume resting-state scan was collected (TR = 2000 ms, TE = 30 ms, flip angle = 73° , field of view = $220 \times 200 \times 116 \text{mm}^3$, slice thickness = 3.4 mm³, voxel size = 3.4 mm³, 34 slices acquired interleaved), in which participants were asked to fixate on a white cross presented on a black screen while thinking of nothing in particular. All data was converted from DICOM to Nifti format using the Brain Imaging Data Structure (BIDS; Gorgolewski et al., 2016), and image quality and subject inscanner motion was assessed using a validated quality control pipeline (MRIQC; Esteban et al., 2017).

2.5 Neuroimaging Data Preprocessing

All preprocessing of structural and functional images was completed using the fMRIPrep pipeline version 1.4.1 (Esteban et al., 2019) which uses Nipype 1.2.0 (K.

Gorgolewski et al., 2011). fMRIPrep completes minimal preprocessing utilizing an array of tools from various analysis software packages, including brain extraction, motion correction, field unwarping, normalization, and bias field correction (Esteban et al., 2019).

Total Lesion Volume

Due to the fact that structural MRI images from PwMS have T2w, and sometimes T1w, visible lesions that may interfere with standard preprocessing steps such as segmentation and normalization (Battaglini et al., 2012), we included in the analysis pipeline a high-resolution lesion map which fMRIprep utilized to fill lesion locations with signal from non-lesion matter. To create this lesion map, T2 images were first brain extracted using FSL's BET tool, and then imported to the Xinapse Systems Jim 6.0 software (Xinapse Systems, 2011), where two independent raters (ICC = .968, p< .01) manually identified white matter lesions by marking lesion voxels in each slice of the T2 images. This manual lesion map was then combined with an automated lesion finding tool segmentations in the Jim software that uses prior knowledge of MS lesions from 300 expert manual lesion to create an additional lesion probability map (Xinapse Systems, 2011). These two lesion maps, the manual and the automated, were algorithmically combined giving equal weight to each, to create a final, semi-automated lesion map. Total lesion volume measure in cubed centimeters was calculated in the Jim software, and utilized in the regression analysis predicting EDSS. Using FSL, the lesion map was converted to high-resolution space in order to be used for lesion filling of the T1w image in fMRIprep, a procedure which improves segmentation and registration of the T1w image to standard space by refilling lesion spaces with the intensity values from normal-appearing, non-lesion white matter.

Preprocessing of Structural Data

The T1 image was first corrected for intensity non-uniformity with the ANTs *N4BiasFieldCorrection* function, and then skull-stripped with the ANTs *antsBrainExtraction* tool (ANTs 2.2.0; Avants et al., 2011). The lesions in the T1w image were identified and filled with surrounding voxel intensities in order to improve subsequent registration and segmentation. Spatial normalization was performed using ANTs' *antsRegistration* tool, using nonlinear registration for alignment of the T1w image to standard space (MNI152NLin2009cAsym). Brain tissue in the T1 was segmented into cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), white-matter (WM), and gray-matter (GM) using FSL's (FSL 5.0.9; Jenkinson et al., 2012) *fast* tool (Zhang et al., 2001), and then Freesurfer (FreeSurfer 6.0.1;Fischl, 2012) was used to refine these segmentations using both the T1w and FLAIR image.

Preprocessing of rs-fMRI

For the single BOLD resting-state run, a single reference image and a skull-stripped version of this image was generated, and the susceptibility distortion was estimated from the fieldmap image using a custom methodology from fMRIPrep. The sequence was corrected for susceptibility distortion using the fieldmap image. The BOLD reference image was co-registered to the T1w reference using Freesurfer's *bbregister* tool (FreeSurfer 6.0.1;Greve & Fischl, 2009), using nine degrees of freedom. Head motion was estimated in relation to the BOLD reference and corrected for using FSL's *mcflirt* (FSL 5.0.9;(Jenkinson et al., 2002), and then slice-timing corrected using AFNI's *3dTshift* (Cox, 1996, 2012). Volumes that

exceeded a .5 mm FD cutoff were considered high motion outliers and included as regressors in the following step.

After data preprocessing, the first 5 volumes of the functional data were excluded to allow for the stabilization of the BOLD signal. A final regression step was implemented using the *signal.clean* function in the Nilearn Python package (Abraham et al., 2014) to implement high pass temporal filtering at .01 Hz, as well as the regression of 36 motion parameters (WM/CSF/global timecourses, 6 rigid body motion parameters, their temporal derivatives, and their quadratic term), high motion confound volumes, and mean signal from the WM, CSF, and global signal. No spatial smoothing was performed, given recent work suggesting smoothing may reduce between subject differences in graph theory metrics (Alakörkkö et al., 2017).

2.6 Prediction of Processing Speed Index and Working Memory Index

Connectivity Matrices

Connectome-based predictive modeling was used to examine the explained variance in processing speed and working memory from resting-state functional connectivity. After nuisance regression of the time-series from each node of the Shen atlas (X. Shen et al., 2013), each time-series was correlated with every other time-series to create a 268 by 268 functional connectivity matrix for each participant, with each edge representing the degree of correlation between two nodal time-series. Given the small sample size of this study, nodes

were removed from every individual's connectivity matrix if they were missing in any participant.

One potential confound in functional connectivity analyses is the influence of inscanner head motion, which can create the spurious appearance of functional connections between nodes. In addition to motion correction at the preprocessing stage, to examine the potential influence of residual motion during rs-fMRI on CPM models, a three-step procedure was followed.

First, for each subject's processed rs-fMRI data, a mean framewise displacement measure was calculated by taking the average absolute temporal derivative of 6 motion parameters (3 translational and 3 rotational) from volume to volume in the motion-corrected data (Power et al., 2012). This post-processed mean FD therefore represented the remaining motion in each participant's resting-state timeseries. Processed mean FD was Pearson correlated with PSI and WMI, respectively, to determine the overlap between behavioral data and subject motion. Second, participants who averaged a processed FD of above .15 were determined to have excessive motion and excluded from analyses. This cutoff has been widely used in CPM analyses and was selected *a priori* in order to balance the tradeoff between sample size and clean data. Third, a CPM was built specifically to predict motion. This allowed us to: a) determine whether exclusion of high motion subjects reduced the influence of residual motion on CPM models, and b) identify the sample-specific mean FD cutoff required to reduce motion artifact such that it is no longer sufficient to predict subjectlevel motion from functional connectivity and compare it to our *a priori* cutoff of .15.

Network Derivation and Model-Building

Networks and models were built separately for PSI and WMI utilizing a leave-oneout cross validation approach (Figure 1). For PSI and WMI respectively, participants were divided into a training set, consisting of n-1 participants, and a testing set, consisting of the left out individual. Within each cross-validation iteration, each edge in the functional connectivity matrix across all individuals was Spearman correlated with the behavioral input while statistically controlling for processed motion scores, and thresholded at a significance level of p <.01, creating a set of edges significantly correlated with behavior. These edges were separated into two distinct networks: a high network, consisting of all edges positively correlated with behavior, and a low network, consisting of all edges negatively correlated with behavior.

Within each of these networks, connectivity values in all selected edges were averaged to form a summary statistic. The validity of averaging the edge connectivity values into a single score was evaluated by comparing the correlation of the most predictive edge in the entire network with behavior to the correlation of the summary strength scores with behavior. Three regression models were formed by regressing behavioral scores onto the high and low summary statistics for the n-1 individuals. Using the training-set network, summary strength scores were then calculated for the left out individual and inserted into the linear model in order to produce an estimated behavioral score from the unseen individual's data.

This procedure was repeated for every individual such that every individual's data was left out of model training once, and thus received an estimated behavioral score. Estimated scores from the high and low models were correlated with observed behavioral

scores to assess model fit. To assess the robustness of any significant models, and to calculate a final *p*-value for each correlation between observed and estimated scores, permutation testing was performed by shuffling the behavioral scores such that they were no longer matched with the brain matrix from the same individual. CPM was shuffled and run 1000 times, creating a null distribution of rho values representing the accuracy of the CPM models observable by chance. Our true model's *rho* value was placed into this distribution to determine the likelihood that it occurred due to chance.

After model derivation, network edges in significant models were evaluated by examining region location and participation 10 canonical networks: cerebellar; medial frontal; frontoparietal; default mode; motor; visual I; visual II; association; salience; subcortical. Using the following formula, the contribution of within and between network connections was calculated as the ratio of the proportion of model edges from network A to B, to the proportion of total edges in the brain from network A to B. This allowed us to examine the relative contribution of networks in our final models by controlling for overall network size.

$$Contribution_{A,B} = \frac{m_{A,B}/m_{total}}{E_{A,B}/E_{total}}$$

Examination of Model Assumptions

As CPM relies on a linear regression of behavioral scores onto functional connectivity summary strength scores, the relationship between network connectivity and PSI and WMI, respectively, was evaluated post-derivation for linearity, normality, homoscedasticity by examining the residuals and estimated Y values derived for each subject during cross-validation. These assumptions may be categorized into primary, which when violated affects the meaning of the statistics applied, and secondary, which when violated does not change the interpretation of the statistics but may not accurately reflect population inference (Hayes, 2005). Linearity, the only primary assumption of linear regression, was evaluated visually, by constructing a detrended scatterplot of the residuals of estimated Y (model-estimated PSI and WMI scores) against summary strength scores. In addition, variance accounted for by the simple linear model was compared to variance accounted for by the simple linear model was compared to determine whether the relationship between connectivity and behavior was better explained by a curvilinear model.

The secondary assumption of conditional normality of the estimation errors assumes that the model's errors in estimation are normally distributed at every value of estimated Y. This was assessed by visual inspection for normality by plotting a histogram of the frequencies of the residuals, however, the possibility of non-normal estimation errors was proactively accounted for by the use of permutation testing to determine the final p-values, given that permutation testing makes no assumption about the shape of the error distribution and is therefore valid regardless of its shape.

Homoscedasticity is the secondary assumption that the conditional estimation errors are equally variable for all estimated Y values in the population. This was examined by visually inspecting a plot of the residuals against the estimated Y values, as well as nonvisually by computing the Pearson correlation between estimated Y and the absolute value of the residuals.

2.7 Association of Functional Connectivity with Disease Course

Functional connectivity models determined to have successfully identified a brainbehavior relationship were evaluated for overlap with clinical disease measures by correlating summary strength scores with EDSS. Additionally, the explanatory power of functional connectivity and total lesion volume in predicting EDSS were examined by creating a multiple linear regression model that utilized summary strength scores from WMI and PSI models and lesion load as predictor variables in the prediction of EDSS. The unique contribution of each of these variables was assessed by completing a semi-partial correlation for each of the three predictor variables.

Chapter 3. Results

3.1 Sample Demographics, Neuropsychological and Clinical Variables

Of the 44 individuals who participated in the study, 39 completed the neuroimaging portion of the study and were included in these analyses. The demographic characteristics of this sample can be found in Table 1, which consisted of 31 females and 8 males with an average age of 45.95 years (SD = 7.62), an average of 16.37 years of education (SD = 2.37). With regards to race and ethnicity, 33 participants identified as 'White', 3 identified as 'Black or African American', 2 identified as 'Other', and 1 responded 'Prefer not to Answer'; no participants identified as 'Hispanic'. The average duration of disease was 11.39 years (SD = 8.42), with a mean EDSS score of 3.74 (SD = 1.13). Mean WAIS-IV PSI percentile score was 98.92 (SD = 12.81) and mean WMI percentile score was 104.10 (SD = 15.62), indicating a cognitively normal sample.

Although MS study samples vary in clinical and demographic factors, making comparison between samples difficult, compared to similar neuroimaging studies with relapsing-remitting MS samples, our study had a comparable patient sample size (Bonavita et al., 2015; Faivre et al., 2016; Finke et al., 2015; Gamboa et al., 2014; Leonardi et al., 2013; Sbardella et al., 2015; Shu et al., 2016), and was similar in average age (Bonavita et al., 2015; Castellazzi et al., 2018; Finke et al., 2015), and disease duration (Finke et al., 2015; Sbardella et al., 2015). Our sample had approximately 3 more years of education, a larger female to male ratio (Cruz-Gómez et al., 2014; Faivre et al., 2016; Finke et al., 2015; Leonardi et al., 2013; Sbardella et al., 2015) and had a higher average EDSS score (Castellazzi et al., 2018; Cruz-Gómez et al., 2014; Finke et al., 2015; Leonardi et al., 2013) than many similar neuroimaging samples. Race and ethnicity in our sample could not be adequately compared to similar studies due to infrequent reporting of these variables.

After excluding subjects with an average mean FD head motion estimate of > .15, an exploratory analysis in the final sample of 33 was performed to examine the relationship between clinical, demographic, and neuropsychological variables by correlating PSI scores, WMI scores, disease burden (EDSS), disease duration, education, total lesion volume (TLV), and motion estimates during rs-fMRI measured as mean framewise displacement (mean FD) (Table 2). A significant negative correlation was found between disease duration and PSI scores, r(33) = -.35, p < .05, such that longer disease duration was associated with worse PSI scores. In addition, a positive relationship was observed between motion and disease burden, r(33) = -.36, p = .04, such that higher average motion was associated with higher selfreported disease burden. Several notable relationships were examined but did not reach significance in this sample: total lesion volume was inversely correlated with both PSI scores, r(33) = -.34, p = .06, and WMI scores, r(33) = -.34, p = .05, with higher total lesion volume associated with lower PSI and WMI scores. In addition, there was no significant association between WMI scores and education level, r(33) = .30, p = .09, or WMI scores and in-scanner motion, r(33) = -.30, p = .09.

3.2 Neuroimaging Results

Network Derivation and Model Performance

Twenty-one nodes were excluded from the analyses prior to network derivation due to insufficient brain coverage in at least one individual. These nodes consisted of 15 cerebellar nodes, 2 brainstem nodes, 2 prefrontal nodes, and 2 temporal nodes, resulting in a 247 x 247 symmetrical connectivity matrix for inclusion in the main analysis. Within each iteration of the separate PSI and WMI cross-validation loops, edges were correlated with assessment scores, forming 33 iterations of behavioral networks and 33 iteration of models. During PSI derivation, the number of edges in the model-building iterations ranged from 168-227 in the high network, and 133-179 in the low network. The low-PSI model was found to successfully predict processing speed (correlation between predicted and estimated scores: $r_s(33) = .41$, p = .02), however the high network was not significantly able to predict processing speed performance, $r_s(33) = .03$, p = .86 (Figure 2). During WMI derivation, the number of edges in the model-building iterations ranged from 111-157 in the high network, and 148-214 in the low network. Neither the high nor the low networks were able to successfully predict working memory scores (high model: $r_s(33) = -.15$, p = .40; low model: r_s (33) = .13, p = .48) (Figure 2). The only significant model, the low PSI CPM, survived permutation testing suggesting low likelihood of this model occurring due to chance, p = .03(Figure 2).

Regression Model Assumptions

The high and low models within each round of cross validation were assessed for PSI and WMI individually in order to examine model assumptions of the regression between summary strength scores and behavior, including linearity, normality, and homoscedasticity (Figure 5). For PSI high and low models, visual inspection of the residuals showed no discernable trend, nor visible homoscedasticity, suggesting a linear model was appropriate (Figure 5 b). The absolute value of the residuals and the predicted value of Y were correlated and demonstrated no significant relationship for any of the networks. A histogram plot of the residuals showed a normal distribution, satisfying the requirement for normality (Figure 5 a). Testing whether the relationship between summary scores and PSI would be better modeled by a curvilinear relationship using 2^{nd} and 3^{rd} degree polynomial terms, we found no change in nonsignificant models. For the significant low network, a 2nd degree polynomial term improved the captured variance in PSI scores but decreased statistical significance due to the added degree of freedom, r_s (33) =.48, p < .05. For the WMI high network, visual examination of the residuals indicated a slight negative trend (Figure 5 b), indicating a linear model may not be appropriate. A second order polynomial term increased the captured variance of WMI scores, but still failed to reach significance, r_s (33) =.32, p = 0.20 (Table 6). Upon visual inspection, normality of the residuals for the WMI high network was also questionable (Figure 5 a). The low WMI network appeared to be normal, linear and have appropriate homoscedasticity.

Network Topology Predictive of Worse Processing Speed

In order to characterize edges utilized during cross-validation, edges that were significantly correlated with behavior in every iteration of the cross-validation loop were identified for each of the processing speed and working memory network derivations. For PSI, we found 71 common edges in the high network, and 58 in the low network, accounting for .23% and .19% of total available edges, respectively. For WMI, we found 46 edges in the high network, and 72 in the low network, .15% and .23% of available edges in the whole matrix.

The anatomical and network localization of the significant, low-PSI network was then assessed (Table 2). The 58 edges in the common low-PSI network showed slightly greater involvement of the right hemisphere than the left with the largest number of contributions originating from the left and right prefrontal regions (Figure 3). Contribution of the 10 canonical networks was assessed by dividing these edges into the networks they participate in and examining the within and between network connections relative to the expected contribution given the number of edges in those networks (Figure 4). This analysis revealed that prediction in the low-PSI CPM was driven by edges in several different networks. By raw count, the network consisted primarily of within network connections in the cerebellar, medial frontal, subcortical, and motor networks, as well as increased between-network connectivity between the cerebellar and subcortical networks, cerebellar and frontoparietal networks, subcortical and frontoparietal networks, salience and motor networks, visual I and motor networks, visual I and DMN, and frontoparietal and medial frontal networks. Relative to the number of edges located in each of these networks, the greatest relative contributions were from within network connections in the cerebellar, subcortical, and motor networks, in descending order. The greatest relative contributions from between network connections were from connections between cerebellar and subcortical, cerebellar and frontoparietal networks, visual I and DMN, motor and DMN, in descending order (Figure 6).

Processing Speed Model Metrics Correlate with Measures of Disease Burden

Summary scores estimated for each individual during model derivation for the significant low-PSI network were significantly correlated with EDSS, r(33) = .38, p = .03, suggesting that functional connectivity within edges negatively correlated with processing speed were also associated with increased disease burden. Neither PSI cognitive performance scores, $r_s(33) = .13$, p = .48, WMI cognitive performance scores, $r_s(33) = .20$, p = .27, nor total lesion volume, $r_s(33) = .15$, p = .40, were significantly associated with disease burden.

In order to determine the unique contribution of functional connectivity, lesion accumulation, and cognitive performance in the prediction of current disease burden, we built a multiple linear regression model using summary strength scores from the successful processing speed derivation, total lesion volume, and cognitive performance on the WAIS-IV PSI and WMI subtests (Table 4). Combined, TLV, WMI, PSI, and the PSI-CPM summary strength scores accounted for 18.2% of the variance in EDSS. Of this, PSI-CPM summary strength scores uniquely accounted for a significant amount, 13.19%, of variance in EDSS. Cognitive performance as measured by the PSI uniquely accounted for .58% of variance in EDSS, WMI uniquely accounted for 3.54% of variance in EDSS, and lesion volume uniquely accounted for a miniscule .002% of variance in EDSS. The shared variance accounted for by lesion volume, PSI, WMI, and PSI-CPM summary strength scores was only 1.02%. As a final analysis, a model was built to predict EDSS using WMI, PSI and TLV, but not CPM summary strength scores. This model accounted for only 5% of the variance in EDSS, meaning that including CPM summary strength scores resulted in an increase of 13.20%.

Motion Correction

In-scanner motion was Pearson correlated with WMI and PSI in the full sample, which failed to find a relationship between motion and neuropsychological assessment scores (correlation between mean FD and PSI, r(39) = -.30, p = .06; correlation between mean FD and WMI, R(39) = -.24, p = .14). Six participants were excluded *a priori* for having average motion estimates greater than .15mm, resulting in a final sample of 33, after which the correlation between motion and behavior was r(33) = .10, p = .55 for PSI, and r(33) = -.030, p = .09 for WMI (Table 2).

As an additional check for the potential confounding role of motion during model derivation in this low-motion sample of 33 participants, a CPM model was built specifically to predict motion estimates using rs-functional connectivity. We found that enough motion artifact remained in the data to result in a highly predictive model (correlation between predicted and observed mean FD scores: r(33) = .72, p < .001). As an exploratory analysis, models were iteratively built to remove high-motion subjects in descending order in an attempt to determine an ideal motion cutoff. At n = 27, corresponding to a processed mean FD cutoff of > .1097, CPM could no longer be used to predict motion. The ability to predict motion decreased steadily with the removal of high motion subjects, suggesting that removing high-motion individuals does reduce the chance of predictive models being influenced by motion artifact. Due to the residual motion in the sample indicated by the successful prediction of mean FD using CPM, motion was subsequently statistically controlled for during the feature selection stage of the processing speed and working memory CPM derivation by using a partial correlation to select edges that remained significantly

associated with cognitive scores even after removing the variance accounted for by mean FD scores.

Chapter 4. Discussion

Current conceptualization of multiple sclerosis is as a common, idiopathic and unrelenting inflammatory disease, afflicting young and middle-aged adults with progressive structural damage to the central nervous system (Baecher-Allan et al., 2018; Dendrou et al., 2015; Lassmann, 2018; Wallin et al., 2019). Pharmacological treatments fail to fully prevent disease progression (Amato et al., 2019; Baecher-Allan et al., 2018; Claflin et al., 2019; Ontaneda et al., 2017), and thus PwMS experience a complex disease course characterized by MRI-visible white matter lesions, dysfunction of "normal-appearing" gray and white matter, neuroinflammation, and the body's own attempts to repair this damage (Calabrese et al., 2012; Louapre, 2018; Tintore et al., 2015). Together, these factors result in a highly unpredictable and heterogenous disease that challenges the standard clinical goals of diagnosis, symptom monitoring, identification of mechanisms of decline, and evaluation of treatment efficacy. Previous research has attempted to use structural and functional MRI to quantify individual disease burden as a means to address these clinical goals, particularly focusing on lesion accumulation. These studies have revealed that although lesion accumulation is often correlated with impaired processing speed as well as increased EDSS, this relationship is not unequivocal (Calabrese et al., 2012; Filippi, Preziosa, et al., 2013; Healy et al., 2017; Louapre, 2018; Mike et al., 2011; Patti et al., 2015; Randolph et al., 2005; Stankiewicz et al., 2011). And whereas a graph theoretical approach to functional connectivity has led researchers to propose that structural damage, including but not limited

to lesion accumulation, negatively impacts network efficiency and interacts with compensatory mechanisms in a way that may theoretically explain the heterogenous and unpredictable nature of MS symptomatology (Fleischer et al., 2019; Schoonheim et al., 2015), to date, the development of functional neuromarkers is in its infancy and their usefulness above and beyond structural measures of disease burden have not been sufficiently investigated. The present study demonstrated that a successful model of processing speed, but not working memory, could be derived from resting-state fMRI and used to create a preliminary network of processing speed specific to this population. Additionally, we demonstrated that metrics summarized from this processing speed network explained significant variance in disease burden that was unique to, and in excess of, variance explained by either total lesion volume or neuropsychological assessment scores of processing speed and working memory.

4.1 Success and Composition of PSI and WMI CPM Networks

Connectome-based predictive modeling is a technique that builds upon traditional whole-brain graph theory approaches by allowing for the derivation of domain-specific networks of cognition. Previous work has used CPM in healthy adults to derive unique networks for domains such as fluid intelligence (Finn et al., 2015), attention (Rosenberg et al., 2015), processing speed (M. Gao et al., 2020), and working memory (Avery et al., 2019). Especially relevant to the current study, recent work by Gao et al. has used resting state functional connectivity and CPM to predict processing speed in 99 healthy older adults, successfully deriving two distinct networks of fast and slow processing speed,

respectively (M. Gao et al., 2020). A neuromarker of working memory has also successfully been derived from resting-state functional connectivity to predict n-back performance in a large sample of 502 healthy young adults, though this neuromarker was outperformed by a task-based model (Avery et al., 2019). These and other findings have suggested that CPM neuromarkers built on task data may be more predictive and have better generalizability to external data (Greene et al., 2018). Despite this, resting state functional connectivity has long been considered better-suited for use in clinical populations, given its high signal-tonoise ratio, the ability to apply it flexibly to multiple constructs, and its ease of collection in a wide array of populations (Fox & Greicius, 2010). However, the application of CPM to neurological disease has thus far been limited when compared to its use in healthy adults, though it has demonstrated some success in predicting cognitive impairment in cancer patients and older adults with MCI and Alzheimer's disease (Henneghan et al., 2020; Lin et al., 2018; Prakash et al., in prep) and psychological disorders such as anxiety, depression and disordered sleep (Giancardo et al., 2018; Ju et al., 2020; Ren et al., 2021). Encouragingly, however, recent work has demonstrated networks derived during CPM may have potential utility as clinical markers of treatment response in depression (Ju et al., 2020), opening a new field of domain-specific neuromarkers in patient populations.

Given the success of predictive model derivation in healthy adults, and the advantages of the method's whole-brain approach to functional connectivity, we hypothesized that we would be able to successfully derive processing speed and working memory networks in people with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. In our current study, we were successfully able to derive a low-processing speed network and use that network to build a model to infer WAIS-IV processing speed scores in PwMS using resting-

state fMRI data, and a leave-one-out cross validation procedure to assess model fit. Our successful processing speed model was one that relied on edges negatively correlated with processing speed scores, and thus the resulting network is one representing a set of edges where increased connectivity in this sample of PwMS is indicative of slower processing speed. Our observed correlation between predicted and observed scores was moderately strong and survived permutation testing. Similar to the findings of Gao et al., we observed that our low-PSI network outperformed our high-PS network in the internal validation procedure, and that our correlation between observed and predicted processing speed scores was comparable (MS low-PSI network r_s = .41; older adult slow-PS network r_s = .42) (M. Gao et al., 2020).

When correcting for network size, this slow-PS network contained primarily within-network connections in cerebellar, subcortical, motor, and medial frontal networks, and between-network connections between the cerebellar and subcortical networks, cerebellar and frontoparietal networks, visual I and DMN, as well as motor and DMN. Within-network cerebellar connections were especially overrepresented, followed by between-network connections from cerebellar-to-frontoparietal networks, and withinnetwork connections in the sub-cortical network. Other overrepresented network connections included Visual I-to-DMN, motor-to-DMN, frontoparietal-to-subcortical, and cerebellar-to-visual II (Figure 6). In comparison, the slow-PS CPM network identified by Gao et al. in healthy older adults demonstrated a strong contribution of within-network connections in the motor cortex, and between-network connections from motor-to-visual II and motor-to-frontoparietal networks (M. Gao et al., 2020). Differences in these two

networks may be due in part to edges associated with slowed processing speed in MS being related to MS pathology.

If this is the case, then high-probability lesion sites that are common to many PwMS, such as the cerebellum (Calabrese et al., 2010), should be highly represented, as they were in our sample. Notably, cerebellar lesions and degeneration have also previously been tied to deficits in reaction time tasks (Molinari et al., 1997) and processing speed in aging adults (Eckert et al., 2010) and PwMS (Moroso et al., 2017; Savini et al., 2019). This may in part explain the high contribution of within-cerebellar connections contributing to our network and would suggest that lesion accumulation is in fact an important metric of disease burden, but one that may not be adequately or ideally measured by whole brain total volume.

Despite the successful derivation of a low-PSI network, we were unable to derive a high-PS network in this sample. In addition, our second hypothesis was that we would be able to successfully derive a resting-state working memory network in PwMS, which we were also unable to do. Deriving a network of working memory in PwMS would similarly have allowed us to examine the contribution of working memory to disease burden and compare this to processing speed. Research has suggested that processing speed deficits appear earlier in the MS disease course than working memory deficits (Brochet & Ruet, 2019), and research into these cognitive domains has led others to propose that working memory is supported by processing speed (Fry & Hale, 1996) and therefore working memory deficits may emerge directly as a result of processing speed deficits. Given that we were unable to derive either a high or low working memory model, these relationships could not be examined.

4.2 Assessing Predictors of Disease Burden

Given that processing speed is a core deficit observed in PwMS (DeLuca et al., 2004), identifying a population-specific network of processing speed allowed us to examine the role of this cognitive domain in overall disease burden. The second aim of this study attempted to establish whether a neuromarker of processing speed might have clinical utility, which we examined by associating metrics derived from this marker with disease burden as measured by the EDSS. We hypothesized that metrics derived from our successful predictive models would account for unique variance compared to total lesion volume and neuropsychological assessment scores, given that changes in functional connectivity may theoretically reflect the impact of lesions on networks supporting cognitive functions. In line with our hypothesis, we found that indeed functional connectivity metrics accounted for 13.19% of the variance in EDSS using linear regression.

Notably, and unexpectedly, total lesion volume did not account for a significant amount of variance in predicting EDSS, despite marginal associations of total lesion volume with PSI and WMI scores in our sample. Our failure to find a relationship between EDSS and total lesion volume fits into a literature of mixed findings, with several large studies previously finding evidence of associations between lesion volume and EDSS (Calabrese Mike 2011, Randolph 2005, Stankiewicz 2011) and several studies failing to do so (Fillipi, Agosta 2013, Healy 2017). This paradox can likely be explained due to issues already discussed, particularly that total lesion volume is likely an imperfect measure of pathology,

exacerbated by diversity in lesion location, the compensatory factors of functional networks, and heterogeneity of disease course (Louapre, 2018).

Importantly, we also included performance on the WAIS-IV PSI and WMI as covariates in our model to explain variance in EDSS, given that neuropsychological assessment is clinically used to monitor disease progression in MS and other disorders and has some practical advantages compared to fMRI (Ruet & Brochet, 2020). We did not observe that performance on either of these tests explained variance in disease burden. This finding was also unexpected, but important, given that the National MS Society has suggested the use of repeated cognitive testing in PwMS to monitor disease progression and evaluate treatment (Kalb et al., 2018). Our findings here suggest instead that although structural damage begets functional changes, these functional changes reflect the degree of damage to cognitive systems resulting from MS pathology, and that these functional changes may be more relevant to predicting disease burden than either structural damage or cognitive test performance.

4.3 Limitations and Future Directions

Together, these findings might suggest that for cognitive outcomes and overall disease burden, total lesion volume may be less important than a nuanced understanding of the relationship between lesion location and the resulting impact of lesions to the integrity of networks that support cognition. Previous work has demonstrated that functional networks are constrained by structural white matter connections (Honey, 2008), and therefore white matter integrity is likely to be directly related to the integrity of functional

networks. In PwMS, recent work has suggested that in individuals with structural damage to regions associated with the DMN, cognitive rehabilitation response is moderated by integrity of functional networks (Fuchs, 2020). This suggests first, that the impact of structural damage may be differential depending on the location of that damage, and second, that structural damage is moderated by functional reserve. Thus, as is supported by our results, functional connectivity is likely to contribute unique predictive variance to models of disease. However, our analysis did not investigate the impact of lesions dependent on their location. Future work would benefit from incorporating diffusion weighted imaging to examine this relationship, as well as the relationship between local structural damage and the impact on local and diffuse functional networks.

In addition, the current study proposed to examine the feasibility of implementing CPM to derive processing speed and working memory networks in a MS sample, and to determine whether metrics from those networks were associated with overall disease burden. Our findings are limited to this sample and cannot be generalized to the MS population as a whole without further work replicating this finding. In particular, two of our findings may limit the replicability of this experiment. First, our successful low-PSI network contained only 58 edges common across all individuals in the sample, whereas previous working memory, attention and processing speed CPM papers have reported that number to be in the hundreds (Avery et al., 2019; M. Gao et al., 2020; Rosenberg et al., 2015). Despite this, the high degree of correlation between the low-PSI network metrics and EDSS, and the disproportionate representation of certain canonical networks suggest that these edges were not selected by chance. One explanation for the low number of network edges is that the MS disease course introduces significant functional heterogeneity as a

result of the observed heterogenous and unpredictable structural damage. CPM is a method that seeks commonalities across individuals, and thus its implementation in PwMS might be hampered by processes that result in the need for functional reorganization. Future work would benefit from the use of longitudinal studies to determine the progression and nature of change in functional networks as the disease course progresses. We would hypothesize that processing speed and working memory networks would be intact and homogenous in pre-symptomatic individuals and become increasingly heterogenous with increased disease severity. An important future direction is to examine how focal white matter damage impacts whole-brain connectivity that supports cognitive functions. Creating joint structural and functional models and modeling the interaction between structure and function could account for inter-individual differences in disease presentation.

Another limiting factor in functional connectivity analyses is the potential confounding role of head motion, which is known to be a problem in both traditional functional connectivity techniques (Power et al., 2012) and CPM (Horien et al., 2018). It is possible that the failed derivations and low number of common edges was due to excessive noise introduced by participant motion. PwMS may be more prone to in-scanner motion than healthy adults given that tremors are a feature of the disease (Koch et al., 2007), and to address this we implemented rigorous motion controls, including: the regression of 36 motion parameters and high motion volumes during nuisance regression; exclusion of participants with an average framewise displacement greater than .15; and, controlling for motion during the edge selection step of CPM. Despite controlling extensively for motion artifact in this study, an important future direction would be to replicate these analyses in a larger sample with even stricter motion exclusion criteria. However, it should be noted that

translational models that utilize functional connectivity will not be useful to clinicians of MS and other clinical populations if they are only able to be derived from, and applied to, low-motion patients. Therefore, another key future direction is the development of additional methodology that accounts for motion in the preprocessing and model building stages.

Additionally, although the sustained attention CPM network originally derived in Rosenberg et al. (2015) consisted of a sample of 25 healthy adults and has been validated in predicting ADHD symptoms in a sample of young adults (Rosenberg et al., 2015) as well as Stroop task performance in older adults (Fountain-Zaragoza et al., 2019), most recent connectome-based predictive models in the literature have been derived on larger samples of closer to 100+ individuals. Models derived on smaller samples are likely to be less generalizable (Poldrack et al., 2020), though they are still useful for investigating relationships between variables within a single sample, as we do here. Future work would benefit from examining the variance accounted for by lesion volume and functional metrics in larger samples of PwMS to determine if these relationships hold. Relatedly, given the low prevalence of MS in the general population, recruitment for MS studies is a challenge for researchers, and thus data sharing and collaboration will be a necessary direction in this field, given the need for using large, open access datasets in these advanced methods.

A final limitation in this study exists within the network derivation method itself. CPM aims to account for multiple comparisons in the edge selection step by utilizing crossvalidation (Finn, 2015). However, recent work, not yet peer reviewed, has experimented with the CPM method, and proposed several methods for improving feature selection and generalizability (O'Connor et al., 2020). Additionally, recent work published after the aims

of the current study were completed have utilized ridge and lasso regression in order to remedy this and account for the collinearity of edges (S. Gao et al., 2019). Future work in CPM would benefit from examining how different feature selection methods may be more or less suitable for different populations and samples, however, these methods may be less successful in small sample sizes such as those commonly found in pilot studies such as this one. In our current study, the low number of edges but the high relevance of those edges to disease burden suggests that our network itself may be sample-specific, but the relationship demonstrated between whole-brain functional connectivity, lesion volume, processing speed, and disease burden in PwMS may itself be highly replicable and of imminent importance to the MS literature.

4.4 Conclusions

The current study aimed to use connectome-based predictive modeling - a methodology that has been used widely in healthy and various clinical populations to identify functional connections associated with behavioral, physiological, and cognitive constructs to derive resting-state, whole-brain functional neuromarkers of processing speed and working memory performance in individuals with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis, and to assess the potential use of this population and cognitive domain specific neuromarker as a method to explain variance in overall MS disease burden. We were able to derive a network of processing speed in a sample of people with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis, but not a working memory network. Additionally, this processing speed network demonstrated some clinical utility by predicting significant unique variance in patient disease burden, while total lesion volume and neuropsychological processing speed and working memory assessment scores did not. Although the small number of edges in this derived network likely limits its use as a true neuromarker, together, these results suggest that the use of functional neuromarkers in addition to structural measures may in fact be a promising line of study in certain clinical populations, potentially able to reflect not the amount of disease progression as measure by structural damage, but rather the net impact of that damage on disease burden given individual variation in functional reserve. Multiple sclerosis is a disease marked by a high prevalence rate, consequential and disruptive symptoms, and idiopathic onset, and the high likelihood of progression to significant disability. The current study suggests that whole-brain approaches that include cerebellar regions are vital to future investigations of the mechanisms of the MS-disease processes and their effects on physical, sensory and cognitive processing. Future research could address the limitations of the current study by replicating this analysis on a larger sample and incorporating multimodal imaging (diffusion, task-fMRI, etc.) to increase model accuracy and generalizability.

References

- Abraham, A., Pedregosa, F., Eickenberg, M., Gervais, P., Mueller, A., Kossaifi, J., Gramfort, A., Thirion, B., & Varoquaux, G. (2014). Machine learning for neuroimaging with scikit-learn. *Frontiers in Neuroinformatics*, 8(FEB), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fninf.2014.00014
- Alakörkkö, T., Saarimäki, H., Glerean, E., Saramäki, J., & Korhonen, O. (2017). Effects of spatial smoothing on functional brain networks. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 46(9), 2471–2480. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejn.13717
- Amato, M. P., Prestipino, E., & Bellinvia, A. (2019). Identifying risk factors for cognitive issues in multiple sclerosis. *Expert Review of Neurotherapeutics*, 19(4), 333–347. https://doi.org/10.1080/14737175.2019.1590199
- Avants, B. B., Tustison, N. J., Song, G., Cook, P. A., Klein, A., & Gee, J. C. (2011). A Reproducible Evaluation of ANTs Similarity Metric Performance in Brain Image Registration. *NeuroImage*, 54(3), 2033–2044. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.09.025.A
- Avery, E. W., Yoo, K., Rosenberg, M. D., Greene, A. S., Gao, S., Na, D. L., Scheinost, D., Constable, T. R., & Chun, M. M. (2019). Distributed Patterns of Functional Connectivity Predict Working Memory Performance in Novel Healthy and Memoryimpaired Individuals. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, *32*(2), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn_a_01487

Baddeley, A., & Hitch, G. (1974). The social design of virtual worlds: constructing the user

and community through code. Medical Research Council, 47-88.

- Baecher-Allan, C., Kaskow, B. J., & Weiner, H. L. (2018). Multiple Sclerosis: Mechanisms and Immunotherapy. *Neuron*, 97(4), 742–768. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2018.01.021
- Bassett, D. S., & Sporns, O. (2017). Network neuroscience. *Nature Neuroscience*, 20(3), 353–364. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4502
- Battaglini, M., Jenkinson, M., & De Stefano, N. (2012). Evaluating and reducing the impact of white matter lesions on brain volume measurements. *Human Brain Mapping*, 33(9), 2062–2071. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.21344
- Beck, A. T., Steer, R. A., & Brown, G. K. (1996). BDII.pdf. In BDI-11 manual. San Antonio, TX: The Psychological Corporation. (p. 2pages).
- Belbasis, L., Bellou, V., Evangelou, E., Ioannidis, J. P. A. A., & Tzoulaki, I. (2015).
 Environmental risk factors and multiple sclerosis: an umbrella review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses. *The Lancet Neurology*, *14*(3), 263–273.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70267-4
- Benedict, R. H. B., Wahlig, E., Bakshi, R., Fishman, I., Munschauer, F., Zivadinov, R., & Weinstock-Guttman, B. (2005). Predicting quality of life in multiple sclerosis:
 Accounting for physical disability, fatigue, cognition, mood disorder, personality, and behavior change. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 231(1–2), 29–34.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2004.12.009
- Berrigan, L. I., Lefevre, J. A., Rees, L. M., Berard, J., Freedman, M. S., & Walker, L. A. S. (2013). Cognition in early relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: Consequences may be relative to working memory. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*,
19(8), 938–949. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617713000696

- Biswal, B., Zerrin Yetkin, F., Haughton, V. M., & Hyde, J. S. (1995). Functional connectivity in the motor cortex of resting human brain using echo-planar mri. *Magnetic Resonance in Medicine*, 34(4), 537–541. https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.1910340409
- Bonavita, S., Sacco, R., Della Corte, M., Esposito, S., Sparaco, M., d'ambrosio, A., Docimo,
 R., Bisecco, A., Lavorgna, L., Corbo, D., Cirillo, S., Gallo, A., Esposito, F., & Tedeschi,
 G. (2015). Computer-aided cognitive rehabilitation improves cognitive performances
 and induces brain functional connectivity changes in relapsing remitting multiple
 sclerosis patients: An exploratory study. *Journal of Neurology*, *262*(1), 91–100.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-014-7528-z
- Brochet, B., & Ruet, A. (2019). Cognitive Impairment in Multiple Sclerosis With Regards to Disease Duration and Clinical Phenotypes. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 10(March), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2019.00261
- Brownlee, W. J., Hardy, T. A., Fazekas, F., & Miller, D. H. (2017). Diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: progress and challenges. *The Lancet*, 389(10076), 1336–1346. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30959-X
- Buckner, R. L., Andrews-Hanna, J. R., & Schacter, D. L. (2008). The brain's default network: Anatomy, function, and relevance to disease. *Annals of the New York Academy* of Sciences, 1124, 1–38. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1440.011
- Bzdok, D., & Meyer-Lindenberg, A. (2018). Machine Learning for Precision Psychiatry:
 Opportunities and Challenges. *Biological Psychiatry: Cognitive Neuroscience and Neuroimaging*, 3(3), 223–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpsc.2017.11.007

Calabrese, M., Mattisi, I., Rinaldi, F., Favaretto, A., Atzori, M., Bernardi, V., Barachino, L.,

Romualdi, C., Rinaldi, L., Perini, P., & Gallo, P. (2010). Magnetic resonance evidence of cerebellar cortical pathology in multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, *81*(4), 401–404. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.2009.177733

Calabrese, M., Poretto, V., Favaretto, A., Alessio, S., Bernardi, V., Romualdi, C., Rinaldi, F.,
Perini, P., & Gallo, P. (2012). Cortical lesion load associates with progression of
disability in multiple sclerosis. *Brain*, *135*(10), 2952–2961.
https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/aws246

- Castellazzi, G., Debernard, L., Melzer, T. R., Dalrymple-Alford, J. C., D'Angelo, E., Miller,
 D. H., Wheeler-Kingshott, C. A. M. G., & Mason, D. F. (2018). Functional connectivity alterations reveal complex mechanisms based on clinical and radiological status in mild relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 9(AUG), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2018.00690
- Chiaravalloti, N. D., & DeLuca, J. (2008). Cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. *The Lancet Neurology*, 7(12), 13. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(08)70259-X
- Claflin, S. B., Broadley, S., & Taylor, B. V. (2019). The effect of disease modifying therapies on disability progression in multiple sclerosis: A systematic overview of metaanalyses. *Frontiers in Neurology*, *10*(JAN). https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2018.01150
- Costa, S. L., Genova, H. M., Deluca, J., & Chiaravalloti, N. D. (2017). Information processing speed in multiple sclerosis: Past, present, and future. *Multiple Sclerosis*, 23(6), 772–789. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458516645869
- Cox, R. W. (1996). AFNI: Software for analysis and visualization of functional magnetic resonance neuroimages. *Computers and Biomedical Research*, *29*(3), 162–173.

https://doi.org/10.1006/cbmr.1996.0014

- Cox, R. W. (2012). AFNI: What a long strange trip it's been. *NeuroImage*, 62(2), 743–747. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.08.056
- Cruz-Gómez, Á. J., Ventura-Campos, N., Belenguer, A., Ávila, C., & Forn, C. (2014). The link between resting-state functional connectivity and cognition in MS patients. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 20(3), 338–348. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458513495584
- D'Esposito, M., Onishi, K., Thompson, H., Robinson, K., Armstrong, C., & Grossman, M. (1996). Working memory impairments in multiple sclerosis. *Neuropsychology*, *10*(1), 51-56.
- Dadi, K., Rahim, M., Abraham, A., Chyzhyk, D., Milham, M., Thirion, B., & Varoquaux, G. (2019). Benchmarking functional connectome-based predictive models for resting-state fMRI. *NeuroImage*, 192(June 2018), 115–134.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2019.02.062

- De Stefano, N., Giorgio, A., Battaglini, M., Rovaris, M., Sormani, M. P., Barkhof, F.,
 Korteweg, T., Enzinger, C., Fazekas, F., Calabrese, M., Dinacci, D., Tedeschi, G., Gass,
 A., Montalban, X., Rovira, A., Thompson, A., Comi, G., Miller, D. H., & Filippi, M.
 (2010). Assessing brain atrophy rates in a large population of untreated multiple
 sclerosis subtypes. *Neurology*, *74*(23), 1868–1876.
 https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181e24136
- De Stefano, Nicola, Stromillo, M. L., Giorgio, A., Bartolozzi, M. L., Battaglini, M., Baldini, M., Portaccio, E., Amato, M. P., & Sormani, M. P. (2015). Establishing pathological cut-offs of brain atrophy rates in multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery* & *Psychiatry*, 87(1), jnnp-2014-309903. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2014-309903

Deloire, M. S. A. (2012). MRI predictors of cognitive outcome in early multiple sclerosis (Neurology (2011) 76, (1161-1167)). *Neurology*, 78(8), 608. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e31824c43db

- DeLuca, J., Chelune, G. J., Tulsky, D. S., Lengenfelder, J., & Chiaravalloti, N. D. (2004). Is speed of processing or working memory the primary information processing deficit in multiple sclerosis? *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 26(4), 550– 562. https://doi.org/10.1080/13803390490496641
- Dendrou, C. A., Fugger, L., & Friese, M. A. (2015). Immunopathology of multiple sclerosis. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 15(9), 545–558. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3871
- Eckert, M. A., Keren, N. I., Roberts, D. R., Calhoun, V. D., & Harris, K. C. (2010). Agerelated changes in processing speed: Unique contributions of cerebellar and prefrontal cortex. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 4(March), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3389/neuro.09.010.2010
- Eijlers, A. J. C., Meijer, K. A., Wassenaar, T. M., Steenwijk, M. D., Uitdehaag, B. M. J., Barkhof, F., Wink, A. M., Geurts, J. J. G., & Schoonheim, M. M. (2017). Increased default-mode network centrality in cognitively impaired multiple sclerosis patients. *Neurology*, 88(10), 952–960. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000003689
- Eijlers, A. J. C., Van Geest, Q., Dekker, I., Steenwijk, M. D., Meijer, K. A., Hulst, H. E., Barkhof, F., Uitdehaag, B. M. J., Schoonheim, M. M., & Geurts, J. J. G. (2018).
 Predicting cognitive decline in multiple sclerosis: A 5-year follow-up study. *Brain*, *141*(9), 2605–2618. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awy202
- Esteban, O., Birman, D., Schaer, M., Koyejo, O. O., Poldrack, R. A., & Gorgolewski, K. J. (2017). MRIQC: Advancing the automatic prediction of image quality in MRI from

unseen sites. PLoS ONE, 12(9), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0184661

- Esteban, O., Markiewicz, C. J., Blair, R. W., Moodie, C. A., Isik, A. I., Erramuzpe, A., Kent, J. D., Goncalves, M., DuPre, E., Snyder, M., Oya, H., Ghosh, S. S., Wright, J., Durnez, J., Poldrack, R. A., & Gorgolewski, K. J. (2019). fMRIPrep: a robust preprocessing pipeline for functional MRI. *Nature Methods*, *16*(1), 111–116. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41592-018-0235-4
- Faivre, A., Robinet, E., Guye, M., Rousseau, C., Maarouf, A., Le Troter, A., Zaaraoui, W., Rico, A., Crespy, L., Soulier, E., Confort-Gouny, S., Pelletier, J., Achard, S., Ranjeva, J.-P. P., & Audoin, B. (2016). Depletion of brain functional connectivity enhancement leads to disability progression in multiple sclerosis: A longitudinal resting-state fMRI study. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 22(13), 1695–1708. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458516628657
- Filippi, M., Agosta, F., Spinelli, E. G., & Rocca, M. A. (2013). Imaging resting state brain function in multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Neurology*, 260(7), 1709–1713. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-012-6695-z
- Filippi, M., Preziosa, P., Copetti, M., Riccitelli, G., Horsfield, M. A., Martinelli, V., Comi, G., & Rocca, M. A. (2013). Gray matter damage predicts the accumulation of disability 13 years later in MS. *Neurology*, *81*(20), 1759–1767. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000435551.90824.d0
- Finke, C., Schlichting, J., Papazoglou, S., Scheel, M., Freing, A., Soemmer, C., Pech, L. M., Pajkert, A., Pfüller, C., Wuerfel, J. T., Ploner, C. J., Paul, F., & Brandt, A. U. (2015).
 Altered basal ganglia functional connectivity in multiple sclerosis patients with fatigue. *Multiple Sclerosis*, 21(7), 925–934. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458514555784

- Finn, E. S., Shen, X., Scheinost, D., Rosenberg, M. D., Huang, J., Chun, M. M.,
 Papademetris, X., & Constable, R. T. (2015). Functional connectome fingerprinting:
 Identifying individuals using patterns of brain connectivity. *Nature Neuroscience*, *18*(11), 1664–1671. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4135
- Fischl, B. (2012). FreeSurfer. *NeuroImage*, 62(2), 774–781. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.01.021
- Fleischer, V., Radetz, A., Ciolac, D., Muthuraman, M., Gonzalez-Escamilla, G., Zipp, F., & Groppa, S. (2019). Graph Theoretical Framework of Brain Networks in Multiple Sclerosis: A Review of Concepts. *Neuroscience*, 403, 35–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2017.10.033
- Folstein, M. F., Folstein, S. E., & McHugh, P. R. (1975). Mini-Mental State: A practical Method for Grading the Cognitive State of Patients for the Clinician. *Journal of Psychiatry*, 12, 189–198. https://doi.org/10.3744/snak.2003.40.2.021
- Fos, L. A., Greve, K. W., South, M. B., Mathias, C., & Benefield, H. (2000). Paced visual serial addition test: An alternative measure of information processing speed. *Applied Neuropsychology*, 7(3), 140–146. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15324826AN0703_4
- Fountain-Zaragoza, S., Samimy, S., Rosenberg, M. D., & Prakash, R. S. (2019). Connectome-based models predict attentional control in aging adults. *NeuroImage*, 186(October 2018), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.10.074
- Fox, M. D., & Greicius, M. (2010). Clinical applications of resting state functional connectivity. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 4(June). https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2010.00019

Fox, M. D., & Raichle, M. E. (2007). Spontaneous fluctuations in brain activity observed

with functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 8(9), 700–711. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2201

- Frischer, J. M., Weigand, S. D., Guo, Y., Kale, N., Parisi, J. E., Pirko, I., Mandrekar, J., Bramow, S., Metz, I., Brück, W., Lassmann, H., & Lucchinetti, C. F. (2015). Clinical and pathological insights into the dynamic nature of the white matter multiple sclerosis plaque: Dynamic Nature of MS Plaque. *Annals of Neurology*, 78(5), 710–721. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.24497
- Fry, A., & Hale, S. (1996). Processing Speed, Working Memory, and Fluid Intelligence: Evidence for a Developmental Cascade. *Psychological Science*, 7(4), 237–241. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9639.1992.tb00206.x
- Gaetani, L., Prosperini, L., Mancini, A., Eusebi, P., Cerri, M. C., Pozzilli, C., Calabresi, P., Sarchielli, P., & Di Filippo, M. (2018). 2017 revisions of McDonald criteria shorten the time to diagnosis of multiple sclerosis in clinically isolated syndromes. *Journal of Neurology*, 265(11), 2684–2687. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-018-9048-8
- Gamboa, O. L., Tagliazucchi, E., Von Wegner, F., Jurcoane, A., Wahl, M., Laufs, H., & Ziemann, U. (2014). Working memory performance of early MS patients correlates inversely with modularity increases in resting state functional connectivity networks. *NeuroImage*, 94, 385–395. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.12.008
- Gao, M., Wong, C. H. Y., Huang, H., Shao, R., Huang, R., Chan, C. C. H., & Lee, T. M. C. (2020). Connectome-based models can predict processing speed in older adults. *NeuroImage*, 223, 117290. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2020.117290
- Gao, S., Greene, A. S., Constable, R. T., & Scheinost, D. (2019). Combining multiple connectomes improves predictive modeling of phenotypic measures. *NeuroImage*,

201(May), 116038. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2019.116038

- Genova, H. M., Sumowski, J. F., Chiaravalloti, N. D., Voelbel, G. T., & DeLuca, J. (2009).
 Cognition in multiple sclerosis: a review of neuropsychological and fMRI research. *Frontiers in Bioscience*, 14, 1730–1744.
- Giancardo, L., Ellmore, T., Ocampo, J. S., Ocasio, L., Kamali, A., Riascos-Castaneda, R., & Schiess, M. C. (2018). Longitudinal connectome-based predictive modeling for REM sleep behavior disorder from structural brain connectivity. February 2018, 18. https://doi.org/10.1117/12.2293835
- Goldfarb, E. V., Rosenberg, M. D., Seo, D., Constable, R. T., & Sinha, R. (2020).
 Hippocampal seed connectome-based modeling predicts the feeling of stress. *Nature Communications*, *11*(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-16492-2
- Gorgolewski, K., Burns, C. D., Madison, C., Clark, D., Halchenko, Y. O., Waskom, M. L., & Ghosh, S. S. (2011). Nipype: A flexible, lightweight and extensible neuroimaging data processing framework in Python. *Frontiers in Neuroinformatics*, 5(August). https://doi.org/10.3389/fninf.2011.00013
- Gorgolewski, K. J., Auer, T., Calhoun, V. D., Craddock, R. C., Das, S., Duff, E. P., Flandin, G., Ghosh, S. S., Glatard, T., Halchenko, Y. O., Handwerker, D. A., Hanke, M., Keator, D., Li, X., Michael, Z., Maumet, C., Nichols, B. N., Nichols, T. E., Pellman, J., ...
 Poldrack, R. A. (2016). The brain imaging data structure, a format for organizing and describing outputs of neuroimaging experiments. *Scientific Data*, *3*(1), 160044. https://doi.org/10.1038/sdata.2016.44
- Greene, A. S., Gao, S., Scheinost, D., & Constable, R. T. (2018). Task-induced brain state manipulation improves prediction of individual traits. *Nature Communications*, 9(1).

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-04920-3

- Greicius, M. (2008). Resting-state functional connectivity in neuropsychiatric disorders. *Current Opinion in Neurology*, 21(4), 424–430. https://doi.org/10.1097/wco.0b013e328306f2c5
- Greve, D. N., & Fischl, B. (2009). Accurate and robust brain image alignment using boundary-based registration. *NeuroImage*, 48(1), 63–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.06.060
- Haider, L., Zrzavy, T., Hametner, S., Höftberger, R., Bagnato, F., Grabner, G., Trattnig, S.,
 Pfeifenbring, S., Brück, W., & Lassmann, H. (2016). The topograpy of demyelination and neurodegeneration in the multiple sclerosis brain. *Brain*, *139*(3), 807–815.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awv398
- Hämäläinen, R. (2016). Cognitive impairment in MS : rehabilitation approaches. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*, *134*(July), 8–13. https://doi.org/10.1111/ane.12650
- Hawkins, R., Shatil, A. S., Lee, L., Sengupta, A., Zhang, L., Morrow, S., & Aviv, R. I.
 (2020). Reduced global efficiency and random network features in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis with cognitive impairment. *American Journal of Neuroradiology*, *41*(3), 449–455. https://doi.org/10.3174/AJNR.A6435
- Hayes, A. F. (2005). Statistical Methods for Communication Science. In *The American Statistician* (1st ed., Vol. 60, Issue 3). Routledge. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.4324/9781410613707
- Healy, B. C., Buckle, G. J., Ali, E. N., Egorova, S., Khalid, F., Tauhid, S., Glanz, B. I.,Chitnis, T., Guttmann, C. R. G., Weiner, H. L., & Bakshi, R. (2017). CharacterizingClinical and MRI Dissociation in Patients with Multiple Sclerosis. *Journal of*

Neuroimaging, 27(5), 481–485. https://doi.org/10.1111/jon.12433

- Henneghan, A. M., Gibbons, C., Harrison, R. A., Edwards, M. L., Rao, V., Blayney, D. W.,
 Palesh, O., & Kesler, S. R. (2020). Predicting Patient Reported Outcomes of Cognitive
 Function Using Connectome-Based Predictive Modeling in Breast Cancer. *Brain Topography*, 33(1), 135–142. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10548-019-00746-4
- Hermundstad, A. M., Bassett, D. S., Brown, K. S., Aminoff, E. M., Clewett, D., Freeman, S., Frithsen, A., Johnson, A., Tipper, C. M., Miller, M. B., Grafton, S. T., & Carlson, J. M. (2013). Structural foundations of resting-state and task-based functional connectivity in the human brain. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *110*(15), 6169–6174. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1219562110
- Honey, C. J., Sporns, O., Cammoun, L., Gigandet, X., Thiran, J. P., Meuli, R., & Hagmann,
 P. (2009). Predicting human resting-state functional connectivity from structural connectivity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106(6), 2035–2040. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0811168106
- Horien, C., Noble, S., Finn, E. S., Shen, X., Scheinost, D., & Constable, R. T. (2018).
 Considering factors affecting the connectome-based identification process: Comment on Waller et al. *NeuroImage*, *169*(December 2017), 172–175.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.12.045

Huijbregts, S. C. J., Kalkers, N. F., de Sonneville, L. M. J., de Groot, V., Reuling, I. E. W., & Polman, C. H. (2004). Differences in cognitive impairment of relapsing remitting, secondary, and primary progressive MS. *Neurology*, *63*(2), 335–339.
https://doi.org/10.1212/01.WNL.0000129828.03714.90

Inojosa, H., Proschmann, U., Akgün, K., & Ziemssen, T. (2019). A focus on secondary

progressive multiple sclerosis (SPMS): challenges in diagnosis and definition. *Journal* of Neurology, 0123456789. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-019-09489-5

- Jenkinson, M., Bannister, P., Brady, M., & Smith, S. (2002). Improved Optimization for the Robust and Accurate Linear Registration and Motion Correction of Brain Images. *NeuroImage*, 17(2), 825–841. https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.2002.1132
- Jenkinson, M., Beckmann, C. F., Behrens, T. E. J., Woolrich, M. W., & Smith, S. M. (2012). Fsl. *NeuroImage*, 62(2), 782–790. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.09.015
- Jiang, R., Calhoun, V. D., Zuo, N., Lin, D., Li, J., Fan, L., Qi, S., Sun, H., Fu, Z., Song, M., Jiang, T., & Sui, J. (2018). Connectome-based individualized prediction of temperament trait scores. *NeuroImage*, 183(April), 366–374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.08.038
- Ju, Y., Horien, C., Chen, W., Guo, W., Lu, X., Sun, J., Dong, Q., Liu, B., Liu, J., Yan, D., Wang, M., Zhang, L., Guo, H., Zhao, F., Zhang, Y., Shen, X., Constable, R. T., & Li, L. (2020). Connectome-based models can predict early symptom improvement in major depressive disorder. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 273(May), 442–452. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.04.028
- Kalb, R., Beier, M., Benedict, R. H. B., Charvet, L., Costello, K., Feinstein, A., Gingold, J., Goverover, Y., Halper, J., Harris, C., Kostich, L., Krupp, L., Lathi, E., LaRocca, N., Thrower, B., & DeLuca, J. (2018). Recommendations for cognitive screening and management in multiple sclerosis care. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 24(13), 1665–1680. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458518803785
- Khosla, M., Jamison, K., Ngo, G. H., Kuceyeski, A., & Sabuncu, M. R. (2019). Machine learning in resting-state fMRI analysis. *Magnetic Resonance Imaging*, 64(May), 101–

121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mri.2019.05.031

- Kirchner, W. K. (1958). AGE DIFFERENCES IN SHORT-TERM RETENTION OF RAPIDLY CHANGING INFORMATION Minnesota Mining and Manufacturing Company. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 55(4), 352–358.
- Koch, M., Mostert, J., Heersema, D., & De Keyser, J. (2007). Tremor in multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Neurology*, 254(2), 133–145. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-006-0296-7
- Kuhlmann, T., Ludwin, S., Prat, A., Antel, J., Brück, W., & Lassmann, H. (2017). An updated histological classification system for multiple sclerosis lesions. *Acta Neuropathologica*, *133*(1), 13–24. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-016-1653-y
- Kurtzke, J. F. (1983). Rating neurologic impairment in multiple sclerosis: An expanded disability status scale (EDSS). *Neurology*, 33(11), 1444–1452. https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.33.11.1444
- Kwong, K. K. (2012). Record of a single fMRI experiment in May of 1991. NeuroImage, 62(2), 610–612. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.07.089
- Landmeyer, N. C., Bürkner, P. C., Wiendl, H., Ruck, T., Hartung, H. P., Holling, H., Meuth, S. G., & Johnen, A. (2020). Disease-modifying treatments and cognition in relapsingremitting multiple sclerosis: A meta-analysis. *Neurology*, 94(22), e2373–e2383. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000009522
- Lassmann, H. (2018). Multiple Sclerosis Pathology. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine, 8(3), a028936. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a028936
- Lassmann, H., & Bradl, M. (2017). Multiple sclerosis: experimental models and reality. *Acta Neuropathologica*, *133*(2), 223–244. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-016-1631-4
- Lee, M. H., Smyser, C. D., & Shimony, J. S. (2013). Resting-State fMRI: A Review of

Methods and Clinical Applications. *American Journal of Neuroradiology*, *34*(10), 1866–1872. https://doi.org/10.3174/ajnr.A3263

- Leonardi, N., Richiardi, J., Gschwind, M., Simioni, S., Annoni, J. M., Schluep, M., Vuilleumier, P., & Van De Ville, D. (2013). Principal components of functional connectivity: A new approach to study dynamic brain connectivity during rest. *NeuroImage*, 83, 937–950. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.07.019
- Lin, Q., Rosenberg, M. D., Yoo, K., Hsu, T. W., O'Connell, T. P., & Chun, M. M. (2018). Resting-state functional connectivity predicts cognitive impairment related to Alzheimer's disease. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 10(APR), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2018.00094
- Liu, Y., Wang, H., Duan, Y., Huang, J., Ren, Z., Ye, J., Dong, H., Shi, F., Li, K., & Wang, J. (2017). Functional Brain Network Alterations in Clinically Isolated Syndrome and Multiple Sclerosis: A Graph-based Connectome Study. *Radiology*, 282(2), 534–541. https://doi.org/10.1148/radiol.2016152843
- Louapre, C. (2018). Conventional and advanced MRI in multiple sclerosis. *Revue Neurologique*, *174*(6), 391–397. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurol.2018.03.009
- Luchetti, S., Fransen, N. L., van Eden, C. G., Ramaglia, V., Mason, M., & Huitinga, I.
 (2018). Progressive multiple sclerosis patients show substantial lesion activity that correlates with clinical disease severity and sex: a retrospective autopsy cohort analysis. *Acta Neuropathologica*, 135(4), 511–528. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-018-1818-y
- Macaron, G., Baldassari, L. E., Nakamura, K., Rao, S. M., McGinley, M. P., Moss, B. P., Li,H., Miller, D. M., Jones, S. E., Bermel, R. A., Cohen, J. A., Ontaneda, D., & Conway,D. S. (2020). Cognitive processing speed in multiple sclerosis clinical practice:

association with patient-reported outcomes, employment and magnetic resonance imaging metrics. *European Journal of Neurology*, 27(7), 1238–1249. https://doi.org/10.1111/ene.14239

- Meyer-Moock, S., Feng, Y. S., Maeurer, M., Dippel, F. W., & Kohlmann, T. (2014).
 Systematic literature review and validity evaluation of the Expanded Disability Status
 Scale (EDSS) and the Multiple Sclerosis Functional Composite (MSFC) in patients with
 multiple sclerosis. *BMC Neurology*, *14*(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2377-14-58
- Mike, A., Glanz, B. I., Hildenbrand, P., Meier, D., Bolden, K., Liguori, M., Dell'Oglio, E., Healy, B. C., Bakshi, R., & Guttmann, C. R. G. (2011). Identification and clinical impact of multiple sclerosis cortical lesions as assessed by routine 3T MR imaging. *American Journal of Neuroradiology*, 32(3), 515–521.

https://doi.org/10.3174/ajnr.A2340

- Moccia, M., Lanzillo, R., Palladino, R., Chang, K. C.-M. M., Costabile, T., Russo, C., De Rosa, A., Carotenuto, A., Saccà, F., Maniscalco, G. T., & Brescia Morra, V. (2016).
 Cognitive impairment at diagnosis predicts 10-year multiple sclerosis progression. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 22(5), 659–667. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458515599075
- Molinari, M., Leggio, M. G., Solida, A., Ciorra, R., Misciagna, S., Silveri, M. C., & Petrosini, L. (1997). Cerebellum and procedural learning: Evidence from focal cerebellar lesions. *Brain*, 120(10), 1753–1762.

https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/120.10.1753

Moroso, A., Ruet, A., Lamargue-Hamel, D., Munsch, F., Deloire, M., Coupé, P., Ouallet, J. C., Planche, V., Moscufo, N., Meier, D. S., Tourdias, T., Guttmann, C. R. G., Dousset,

V., & Brochet, B. (2017). Posterior lobules of the cerebellum and information processing speed at various stages of multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 88(2), 146–151. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2016-313867

- Noble, S., Scheinost, D., & Constable, R. T. (2019). A decade of test-retest reliability of functional connectivity: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *NeuroImage*, 203(August), 116157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2019.116157
- Noble, S., Spann, M. N., Tokoglu, F., Shen, X., Constable, R. T., & Scheinost, D. (2017). Influences on the Test–Retest Reliability of Functional Connectivity MRI and its Relationship with Behavioral Utility. *Cerebral Cortex*, 27(11), 5415–5429. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhx230
- O'Connor, D., Lake, E. M. R., Scheinost, D., & Todd Constable, R. (2020). Bootstrap aggregating improves the generalizability of Connectome Predictive Modelling. *BioRxiv*. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.07.08.193664
- Ogawa, S., Menon, R. S., Kim, S. G., & Ugurbil, K. (1998). On the characteristics of functional magnetic resonance imaging of the brain. *Annual Review of Biophysics and Biomolecular Structure*, 27, 447–474. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.biophys.27.1.447
- Ontaneda, D., Thompson, A. J., Fox, R. J., & Cohen, J. A. (2017). Progressive multiple sclerosis: prospects for disease therapy, repair, and restoration of function. *The Lancet*, 389(10076), 1357–1366. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31320-4
- Papadopoulou, A., Müller-Lenke, N., Naegelin, Y., Kalt, G., Bendfeldt, K., Kuster, P.,Stoecklin, M., Gass, A., Sprenger, T., Radue, E. W., Kappos, L., & Penner, I. K. (2013).Contribution of cortical and white matter lesions to cognitive impairment in multiple

sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, *19*(10), 1290–1296. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458513475490

- Patti, F., De Stefano, M., Lavorgna, L., Messina, S., Chisari, C. G., Ippolito, D., Lanzillo, R., Vacchiano, V., Realmuto, S., Valentino, P., Coniglio, G., Buccafusca, M., Paolicelli, D., D'Ambrosio, A., Montella, P., Morra, V. B., Savettieri, G., Alfano, B., Gallo, A., ... Tedeschi, G. (2015). Lesion load may predict long-term cognitive dysfunction in multiple sclerosis patients. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(3), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0120754
- Patti, F., Russo, P., Pappalardo, A., Macchia, F., Civalleri, L., & Paolillo, A. (2007).
 Predictors of quality of life among patients with multiple sclerosis: An Italian cross-sectional study. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 252(2), 121–129.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2006.10.017
- Poldrack, R. A., Huckins, G., & Varoquaux, G. (2020). Establishment of Best Practices for Evidence for Prediction: A Review. JAMA Psychiatry, 77(5), 534–540. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2019.3671
- Power, J. D., Barnes, K. A., Snyder, A. Z., Schlaggar, B. L., & Petersen, S. E. (2012). Spurious but systematic correlations in functional connectivity MRI networks arise from subject motion. *NeuroImage*, 59(3), 2142–2154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.10.018
- Power, J. D., Cohen, A. L., Nelson, S. M., Wig, G. S., Barnes, K. A., Church, J. A., Vogel, A. C., Laumann, T. O., Miezin, F. M., Schlaggar, B. L., & Petersen, S. E. (2011).
 Functional Network Organization of the Human Brain. *Neuron*, 72(4), 665–678.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2011.09.006

- Prakash, R., Snook, E., Lewis, J., Motl, R., & Kramer, A. (2008). Cognitive impairments in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a meta-analysis. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 14(9), 1250–1261. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458508095004
- Randolph, J. J., Wishart, H. A., Saykin, A. J., McDonald, B. C., Schuschu, K. R.,
 MacDonald, J. W., Mamourian, A. C., Fadul, C. E., Ryan, K. A., & Kasper, L. H.
 (2005). FLAIR lesion volume in multiple sclerosis: Relation to processing speed and
 verbal memory. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, *11*(2), 205–209. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617705050253
- Ransohoff, R. M., Hafler, D. A., & Lucchinetti, C. F. (2015). Multiple sclerosis—a quiet revolution. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, 11(3), 134–142. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneurol.2015.14
- Rao, S. M., Leo, G. J., Haughton, V. M., St. Aubin-Faubert, P., & Bernardin, L. (1989).
 Correlation of magnetic resonance imaging with neuropsychological testing in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, *39*(2), 161–166. https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.39.2.161
- Rao, Stephen M., Leo, G. J., Bernardin, L., & Unverzagt, F. (1991). Cognitive dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. I. Frequency, patterns, and prediction. In *Neurology* (Vol. 41, Issue 5, pp. 685–691). https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.41.5.685
- Rao, Stephen M., Leo, G. J., Ellington, L., Nauertz, T., Bernardin, L., & Unverzagt, F. (1991). Cognitive dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. II. Impact on employment and social functioning. *Neurology*, *41*, 692–696.
- Reich, D. S., Lucchinetti, C. F., & Calabresi, P. A. (2018). Multiple Sclerosis. New England Journal of Medicine, 378(2), 169–180. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1401483

Ren, Z., Daker, R. J., Shi, L., Sun, J., Beaty, R. E., Wu, X., Chen, Q., Yang, W., Lyons, I.

M., Green, A. E., & Qiu, J. (2021). Connectome-Based Predictive Modeling of Creativity Anxiety. *NeuroImage*, 225(October 2020), 117469. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2020.117469

- Rocca, M. A., De Meo, E., & Filippi, M. (2016). Functional MRI in investigating cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*, 134, 39–46. https://doi.org/10.1111/ane.12654
- Rosenberg, M. D., Finn, E. S., Scheinost, D., Papademetris, X., Shen, X., Constable, R. T., & Chun, M. M. (2015). A neuromarker of sustained attention from whole-brain functional connectivity. *Nature Neuroscience*, *19*(1), 165–171. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4179
- Rubinov, M., & Sporns, O. (2010). Complex network measures of brain connectivity: Uses and interpretations. *NeuroImage*, 52(3), 1059–1069. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.10.003
- Ruet, A., & Brochet, B. (2020). Cognitive assessment in patients with multiple sclerosis:
 From neuropsychological batteries to ecological tools. *Annals of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine*, 63(2), 154–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rehab.2018.01.006
- Savini, G., Pardini, M., Castellazzi, G., Lascialfari, A., Chard, D., D'Angelo, E., & Gandini Wheeler-Kingshott, C. A. M. (2019). Default mode network structural integrity and cerebellar connectivity predict information processing speed deficit in multiple sclerosis. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, *13*(February), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2019.00021
- Sbardella, E., Tona, F., Petsas, N., Upadhyay, N., Piattella, M. C., Filippini, N., Prosperini,
 L., Pozzilli, C., & Pantano, P. (2015). Functional connectivity changes and their
 relationship with clinical disability and white matter integrity in patients with relapsing-

remitting multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis*, *21*(13), 1681–1692. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458514568826

- Scheinost, D., Noble, S., Horien, C., Greene, A. S., Lake, E. M., Salehi, M., Gao, S., Shen, X., O'Connor, D., Barron, D. S., Yip, S. W., Rosenberg, M. D., & Constable, R. T. (2019). Ten simple rules for predictive modeling of individual differences in neuroimaging. *NeuroImage*, *193*(January), 35–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2019.02.057
- Schoonheim, M. M., Geurts, J. J. G., Landi, D., Douw, L., van der Meer, M. L., Vrenken, H., Polman, C. H., Barkhof, F., & Stam, C. J. (2013). Functional connectivity changes in multiple sclerosis patients: A graph analytical study of MEG resting state data. *Human Brain Mapping*, 34(1), 52–61. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.21424
- Schoonheim, M. M., Meijer, K. A., & Geurts, J. J. G. (2015). Network collapse and cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 6(MAR), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2015.00082
- Shen, X., Tokoglu, F., Papademetris, X., & Constable, R. T. (2013). Groupwise whole-brain parcellation from resting-state fMRI data for network node identification. *NeuroImage*, 82, 403–415. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.05.081
- Shen, Xilin, Finn, E. S., Scheinost, D., Rosenberg, M. D., Chun, M. M., Papademetris, X., & Constable, R. T. (2017). Using connectome-based predictive modeling to predict individual behavior from brain connectivity. *Nature Protocols*, *12*(3), 506–518. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2016.178
- Shu, N., Duan, Y., Xia, M., Schoonheim, M. M., Huang, J., Ren, Z., Sun, Z., Ye, J., Dong,H., Shi, F.-D. D., Barkhof, F., Li, K., & Liu, Y. (2016). Disrupted topological

organization of structural and functional brain connectomes in clinically isolated syndrome and multiple sclerosis. *Scientific Reports*, *6*(1), 29383. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep29383

- Simpson, S., Blizzard, L., Otahal, P., Van Der Mei, I., & Taylor, B. (2011). Latitude is significantly associated with the prevalence of multiple sclerosis: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 82(10), 1132–1141. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.2011.240432
- Smitha, K. A., Akhil Raja, K., Arun, K. M., Rajesh, P. G., Thomas, B., Kapilamoorthy, T. R., & Kesavadas, C. (2017). Resting state fMRI: A review on methods in resting state connectivity analysis and resting state networks. *Neuroradiology Journal*, 30(4), 305– 317. https://doi.org/10.1177/1971400917697342
- Solana, E., Martinez-Heras, E., Casas-Roma, J., Calvet, L., Lopez-Soley, E., Sepulveda, M., Sola-Valls, N., Montejo, C., Blanco, Y., Pulido-Valdeolivas, I., Andorra, M., Saiz, A., Prados, F., & Llufriu, S. (2019). Modified connectivity of vulnerable brain nodes in multiple sclerosis, their impact on cognition and their discriminative value. *Scientific Reports*, *9*(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-56806-z
- Sormani, M. P., Bonzano, L., Roccatagliata, L., Cutter, G. R., Mancardi, G. L., & Bruzzi, P. (2009). Magnetic resonance imaging as a potential surrogate for relapses in multiple sclerosis: A meta-analytic approach. *Annals of Neurology*, 65(3), 268–275. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.21606
- Sormani, M. P., & Bruzzi, P. (2013). MRI lesions as a surrogate for relapses in multiple sclerosis: A meta-analysis of randomised trials. *The Lancet Neurology*, *12*(7), 669–676. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(13)70103-0

- Sporns, O. (2018). Graph theory methods: applications in brain networks. *Translational Research*, 20(2), 11. http://files/1242/Sporns 2018 Graph theory methods applications in brain networ.pdf
- Sripada, C., Angstadt, M., Rutherford, S., & Taxali, A. (2019). Predictive Modeling Achieves High Test-Retest Reliability with Resting State Functional Connectivity. *BioRxiv*. https://doi.org/10.1101/796714
- Stankiewicz, J. M., Glanz, B. I., Healy, B. C., Arora, A., Neema, M., Benedict, R. H. B., Guss, Z. D., Tauhid, S., Buckle, G. J., Houtchens, M. K., Khoury, S. J., Weiner, H. L., Guttmann, C. R. G., & Bakshi, R. (2011). Brain MRI Lesion Load at 1.5T and 3T versus Clinical Status in Multiple Sclerosis. *Journal of Neuroimaging*, 21(2), 50–56. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1552-6569.2009.00449.x
- Sumowski, J. F., Benedict, R., Enzinger, C., Filippi, M., Geurts, J. J., Hamalainen, P., Hulst, H., Inglese, M., Leavitt, V. M., Rocca, M. A., Rosti-Otajarvi, E. M., & Rao, S. (2018).
 Cognition in multiple sclerosis: State of the field and priorities for the future. *Neurology*, 90(6), 278–288. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000004977
- Thompson, A. J., Banwell, B. L., Barkhof, F., Carroll, W. M., Coetzee, T., Comi, G.,
 Correale, J., Fazekas, F., Filippi, M., Freedman, M. S., Fujihara, K., Galetta, S. L.,
 Hartung, H. P., Kappos, L., Lublin, F. D., Marrie, R. A., Miller, A. E., Miller, D. H.,
 Montalban, X., ... Cohen, J. A. (2018). Diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: 2017 revisions
 of the McDonald criteria. *The Lancet Neurology*, *17*(2), 162–173.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30470-2
- Tintore, M., Rovira, À., Río, J., Otero-Romero, S., Arrambide, G., Tur, C., Comabella, M., Nos, C., Arévalo, M. J., Negrotto, L., Galán, I., Vidal-Jordana, A., Castilló, J., Palavra,

F., Simon, E., Mitjana, R., Auger, C., Sastre-Garriga, J., & Montalban, X. (2015). Defining high, medium and low impact prognostic factors for developing multiple sclerosis. *Brain*, *138*(7), 1863–1874. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awv105

- Tóth, E., Faragó, P., Király, A., Szabó, N., Veréb, D., Kocsis, K., Kincses, B., Sandi, D., Bencsik, K., Vécsei, L., & Kincses, Z. T. (2019). The contribution of various MRI parameters to clinical and cognitive disability in multiple sclerosis. *Frontiers in Neurology*, *10*(JAN), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2018.01172
- van den Heuvel, M. P., & Hulshoff Pol, H. E. (2010). Exploring the brain network: A review on resting-state fMRI functional connectivity. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 20(8), 519–534. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2010.03.008
- Van Essen, D. C., Ugurbil, K., Auerbach, E., Barch, D., Behrens, T. E. J., Bucholz, R.,
 Chang, A., Chen, L., Corbetta, M., Curtiss, S. W., Della Penna, S., Feinberg, D.,
 Glasser, M. F., Harel, N., Heath, A. C., Larson-Prior, L., Marcus, D., Michalareas, G.,
 Moeller, S., ... Yacoub, E. (2012). The Human Connectome Project: A data acquisition
 perspective. *NeuroImage*, 62(4), 2222–2231.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.02.018

- Wallin, M. T., Culpepper, W. J., Campbell, J. D., Nelson, L. M., Langer-Gould, A., Marrie, R. A., Cutter, G. R., Kaye, W. E., Wagner, L., Tremlett, H., Buka, S. L., Dilokthornsakul, P., Topol, B., Chen, L. H., & LaRocca, N. G. (2019). The prevalence of MS in the United States: A population-based estimate using health claims data. *Neurology*, *92*(10), e1029–e1040. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.000000000007035
- Wallin, M. T., Culpepper, W. J., Coffman, P., Pulaski, S., Maloni, H., Mahan, C. M.,Haselkorn, J. K., & Kurtzke, J. F. (2012). The Gulf War era multiple sclerosis cohort:

Age and incidence rates by race, sex and service. *Brain*, *135*(6), 1778–1785. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/aws099

Wechsler, D. (1981). The psychometric tradition: Developing the wechsler adult intelligence scale. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 6(2), 82–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/0361-476X(81)90035-7

Welton, T., Constantinescu, C. S., Auer, D. P., & DIneen, R. A. (2020). Graph Theoretic Analysis of Brain Connectomics in Multiple Sclerosis: Reliability and Relationship with Cognition. *Brain Connectivity*, 10(2), 95–104. https://doi.org/10.1089/brain.2019.0717

- Zhang, Y., Brady, M., & Smith, S. (2001). Segmentation of brain MR images through a hidden Markov random field model and the expectation-maximization algorithm. *IEEE Transactions on Medical Imaging, Medical Imaging, IEEE Transactions on, IEEE Trans. Med. Imaging, 20*(1), 45–57. https://doi.org/10.1109/42.906424
- Zipoli, V., Goretti, B., Hakiki, B., Siracusa, G., Sorbi, S., Portaccio, E., & Amato, M. P. (2010). Cognitive impairment predicts conversion to multiple sclerosis in clinically isolated syndromes. *Multiple Sclerosis*, 16(1), 62–67.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458509350311

	10	М	50	Dange
Dama amarikian	п	11/1	SD	Kallge
Demographics				
Age	39	45.95	7.62	30-58
Sex	39	-	-	-
Female		31	-	-
Male		8	-	-
Education	39	16.37	2.37	12-23
Race	39			
White		33	-	-
Black		3	-	-
Other		2	-	-
Prefer not to answer		1	-	-
Ethnicity	39			
Non-Hispanic		33	-	-
Hispanic		0	-	-
Prefer not to answer		6	-	-
Clinical Characteristics				
EDSS	39	3.74	1.13	0-5.5
Disease Duration	39	11.39	8.42	.25-35
Lesion Volume	39	21.83 cm ³	12.65 cm ³	2.91-44.17cm ³
Neuropsychological				
Processing Speed (PSI)	39	98.92	12.81	76-127
Working Memory (WMI)		104.10	15.62	69-136

Table 1. Demographic variables for the full MRI sample

Note. EDSS = Expanded Disability Status Scale (Kurtzke, 1983). WAIS-IV PSI =

Processing Speed Index standardized score, WMI = Working Memory Index standardized score (Wechsler, 1981).

Variable	п	1	2	3	4	5	6
1. PSI Scores	33	-	-	-	-	-	-
2.WMI Scores	33	r = .25 p = .17	-	-	-	-	-
3. EDSS	33	r = -0.13 p = 0.48	r =20 p = .27	-	-	-	-
4. Disease Duration	33	r =35* p < .05	r = .02 p = .91	<i>r</i> = .25 <i>p</i> = .16	-	-	-
5. Education	33	<i>r</i> = .03 <i>p</i> = .86	$r = .30 \bot$ $p = .09 \bot$	r =03 p = .85	r = .10 p = .56	-	-
6. TLV	33	$r =34 \perp$ $p = .056 \perp$	$r =34 \perp$ $p = .05 \perp$	r = .15 p = .40	<i>r</i> = .24 <i>p</i> = .19	r =05 p = .80	-
7. Mean FD	33	r =10 p = .55	$r =30 \bot$ $p = .09 \bot$	r = .36* p = .04	r = .14 p = .43	r =17 p = .34	r =28 p = .12

Table 2. Correlations for Study Variables in the Final Sample

Note: Values listed are WAIS-IV PSI = Processing Speed Index standardized score, WMI = Working Memory Index standardized score (Wechsler, 1981). EDSS = Extended Disability Status Scale (Kurtzke, 1983). Mean FD = Mean Framewise Displacement (Power et al., 2011). * p < .05, $\perp p < .01$

Edge	Region	Network	connection	Region	Network
1	R prefrontal	SAL	-	R prefrontal	FP
2	R prefrontal	MF	-	R motor	Mot
3	R prefrontal	FP	-	R motor	Mot
4	R insula	Мо	-	R parietal	VI
5	R parietal	SAL	-	R parietal	Mot
6	R parietal	FP	-	R temporal	Vas
7	R prefrontal	DMN	-	R occipital	VI
8	R prefrontal	DMN	-	R occipital	VI
9	R temporal	Vas	-	R limbic	SAL
10	R prefrontal	FP	-	R cerebellum	CBL
11	R cerebellum	FP	-	R cerebellum	SAL
12	R subcortex	SC	-	R subcortex	SC
13	R parietal	VAs	-	R subcortex	SC
14	R parietal	FP	-	R subcortex	SC
15	R prefrontal	FP	-	R subcortex	SC
16	R prefrontal	FP	-	R subcortex	SC
17	R temporal	Mot	-	L prefrontal	DMN
18	R prefrontal	SAL	-	L motor	Mot
19	L prefrontal	MF	-	L motor	FP
20	R motor	Mot	-	L motor	Mot
21	R prefrontal	MF	-	L motor	Mot
22	L prefrontal	DMN	-	L insula	Mot
23	R insula	Mot	-	L parietal	VI
24	L prefrontal	MF	-	L temporal	MF
25	L prefrontal	SAL	-	L temporal	MF
26	L parietal	MF	-	L temporal	MF
27	R temporal	MF	-	L temporal	FP
28	R cerebellum	CBL	-	L temporal	FP
29	L temporal	MF	-	L temporal	FP
30	R cerebellum	CBL	-	L temporal	MF
31	L temporal	MF	-	L temporal	MF
32	R parietal	VAs	-	L temporal	Mot
33	R cerebellum	CBL	-	L temporal	FP
34	R temporal	Vas	-	L temporal	Mot
35	R limbic	SC	-	L temporal	Vas
36	R parietal	Mot	-	L temporal	Mot
37	R prefrontal	FP	-	L occipital	Vas
38	R prefrontal	DMN	-	L occipital	VI
39	R insula	Mot	-	L occipital	VI
40	L prefrontal	SAL	-	L limbic	SC
41	L temporal	MF	-	L limbic	SC
42	R limbic	Mot	-	L limbic	SAL
43	R prefrontal	'MF	-	L limbic	SC
44	R brainstem	CBL	-	L cerebellum	CBL
45	R brainstem	CBL	-	L cerebellum	VII
46	R brainstem	CBL	-	L cerebellum	VII
47	R occipital	VII	-	L cerebellum	SAL
48	R cerebellum	CBL	-	L cerebellum	SAL
49	R brainstem	CBL	-	L cerebellum	CBL
50	R brainstem	CBL	-	L cerebellum	CBL
51	R cerebellum	CBL	-	L subcortex	SC
52	L cerebellum	VII	-	L subcortex	SC
53	R cerebellum	CBL	-	L subcortex	SC
54	R occipital	VII	-	L brainstem	SC
55	R cerebellum	CBL	-	L brainstem	SC
56	L subcortex	SC	-	L brainstem	SC
57	L cerebellum	CBL	-	L brainstem	CBL
58	L prefrontal	SAL	-	L brainstem	CBL

Table 3. Edges common to all models in derivation of low-PSI network

Note: 'CBL' = Cerebellar. 'MF' = Medial Frontal. 'FP' = Frontoparietal. 'DMN' = Default Mode Network. 'Mot' = Motor. 'VI' = Visual 1. 'VII' = Visual 2. 'VAs' = Visual Association. 'SAL' = Salience. 'SC' = Subcortical.

	Model 1			 Model 2			
Variable	В	95% CI	р	В	95% CI	р	
Constant	5.33	[0.56 10.10]	.03	3.97	[-0.73 8.67]	.09	
PSI	01	[-0.04 0.03]	.75	.01	[-0.28 0.04]	.66	
WMI	01	[-0.04 0.02]	.43	02	[-0.04 0.01]	.28	
TLV	.01	[-0.06 0.09]	.69	00	[-0.08 0.07]	.98	
Low-PSI CPM	-	-	-	22.89*	[0.71 45.06]	.04*	
R ²		.05			.18		
F	.52			1.55			
Delta R ²		-			.13		

Table 4. Predicting EDSS from Cognitive Scores, Total Lesion Volume, and low-PSI Metrics

Note: n=33. CI = confidence interval. Only the metrics derived from the PSI-CPM network reached statistical significance as a predictor of EDSS. EDSS = Extended Disability Status Scale (Kurtzke, 1983). TLV = Total Lesion Volume. PSI = Processing Speed Index standardized score, WMI = Working Memory Index standardized score (Wechsler, 1981). Low-PSI CPM = metrics derived from connectome-based predictive modeling of slow processing speed. * p < .05



Figure 1. Connectome-based Predictive Modeling.

Note. Schematic visual of connectome-based predictive modeling (CPM).

Figure 2. Expanded Disability Status Scale



EXPANDED DISABILITY STATUS SCALE

Note. This study included exclusion criteria that limited EDSS to a score of 5.5. EDSS = Extended Disability Status Scale (Kurtzke, 1983). Figure adapted from [https://www.epresspack.net/temso/media-backgrounder-multiple-sclerosis-a-serious-andunpredictable-neurological-disease//]



Figure 3. In-sample Fit of Processing Speed and Working Memory Models

Note. Visual depiction of the in-sample fit for the network of edges negatively correlated with WAIS-IV Processing Speed Index. Histograms depict the null distribution CPM results after breaking the brain-behavior relationship for permutation testing, with red line indicating where the true model falls. PSI = Processing Speed Index standardized score, WMI = Working Memory Index standardized score (Wechsler, 1981).



Figure 4. Edges Common to All Iterations of the low-PSI Network by Macroscale Brain Region

Note. This visual depicts the involvement of the anatomical distribution of the low-PSI network, using regions from the Shen atlas (Xilin Shen et al., 2017)



Figure 5. Edges Common to All Iterations of the low-PSI Network by Canonical Network

Note. Network localization of the low-PSI network. This visual depicts the involvement of the 10 canonical networks. 'CBL' = Cerebellar. 'MF' = Medial Frontal. 'FP' = Frontoparietal. 'DMN' = Default Mode Network. 'Mot' = Motor. 'VI' = Visual 1. 'VII' = Visual 2. 'VAs' = Visual Association. 'SAL' = Salience. 'SC' = Subcortical.



Figure 6. Contributions of Inter- and Intra- Network Connections Relative to Network Size

$$Contribution_{A,B} = \frac{lowPSI_{A,B}/lowPSI_{total}}{E_{A,B}/E_{total}}$$

Note. Contributions of within and between network connections were calculated as the ratio of the proportion of model edges from network A to B, to the proportion of total edges in the brain from network A to B. 'CBL' = Cerebellar. 'MF' = Medial Frontal. 'FP' = Frontoparietal. 'DMN' = Default Mode Network. 'Mot' = Motor. 'VI' = Visual 1. 'VII' = Visual 2. 'VAs' = Visual Association. 'SAL' = Salience. 'SC' = Subcortical.



Figure 7. Assessing Linear Model Assumptions

Note. (a) Normality is assessed by ensuring the residuals are evenly centered around 0. All network's residuals were centered around 0 and normally distributed by visual inspection. (b) Homoscedasticity and linearity were assessed by examining the relationship between the residuals and summary strength scores. Only the high WMI network demonstrated a significant negative trend, suggesting this relationship may not be linear; homoscedasticity appeared to be violated as the model consistently underestimated the WMI score of participants with higher summary strength scores. PSI = Processing Speed Index standardized score, WMI = Working Memory Index standardized score (Wechsler, 1981).